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employees>500 

exclusive growers

Purchasing and

sales activities 

in over 60 countries

Net revenue 

€1,1 billion
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in millions of euros, unless indicated otherwise

Total Continuing operations

2015 20141 2015 2014

Net revenue 1,107 1,086 1,052 1,027
Related to Fruit and Vegetables 1,031 1,004 945 916
Services 71 77 70 77
Other activities 5 5 5 5

Gross contribution2 168 169 160 161
Personnel expenses - fixed 74 75 66 68
Personnel expenses - variable 25 27 25 26
Other operating expenses 45 46 38 43
EBITDA 24 21 31 24
Depreciation 15 19 15 18
Impairments 5 11 4 2
Operating profit 4 (8) 12 4

Financial income and expenses (8) (8)
Taxes on income (3) 0
Income from associates 11 10
Result from the sale of associates 0 8
Net profit 4 2

Cash flows
Cash flow from operating activities 24 (17)
Cash flow from investing activities 46 49
Cash flow from financing activities (62) (30)

Equity and financing
Balance sheet total 323 390
Invested capital3 189 271
Return on average invested capital 1.6% -3.1%
Interest-bearing loans 74 133
Member loans 61 65

Capital base
Equity capital 87 89
Product funds 6 6
Provision for deferred tax liabilities 17 27
Mandatory member loans (long term) 44 49
Pension provision (RJ271)4 9 9
Total capital base 163 180
Capital base as a percentage of total assets 50.6% 46.1%

Number of employees
Full-time equivalents (FTEs) as at 31 December 1,327 1,406 1,036 1,060

     

1 The comparative figures have been adjusted for the change in accounting policy for pensions. For more information, refer to note 6

'Change in accounting policy'.

2 Net turnover minus cost of sales and subcontracted work.

3 Fixed assets and working capital.

4 The (provisional) commitment to pension providers is included in the capital base.
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Foreword

Phisalis peruviana (Peruvian groundcherry)

In 2015, as well as focusing on cost cutting and savings, we were also able to

turn our attention to external matters. The measures we took last year to

improve the results are already bearing fruit. The positive operating profit

realised in 2015 is the best proof of this. By selling real estate and through

strict accounts receivable management, we have improved our balance sheet

position.

New cooperation model
We are operating in a dynamic market, which is
influenced by factors that are not always within our
field of control. This includes weather conditions, for
example, not only in the Netherlands but also in our
import and export countries. New environmental
requirements and the increasing attention paid by
consumers to pure and honest food are developments
to take into account.

We gradually realised that the original cooperative
model from 1996 needed to be updated in 2015.
Involvement in the Cooperative and the company as

well as transparent business operations and
responsibility are central in this. At the same time,
our broad assortment, one of the strengths of The
Greenery, requires a policy that responds to this
heterogeneity and which suits all our growers.
Modernisation of the Cooperative is another of the
main themes for 2015 and going forward.

We have now achieved some of the first initiatives in
this area. For instance, we have set out the contours
for a new sales organisation, which, from 1 January
2016, will be based on our seven product units: top
fruit, soft fruit, greenhouse, rich soil, mushrooms,
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import and organic. These seven 'sales tables', each
with their own area of expertise, will operate based
on the interests of the product unit and therefore the
growers, with whom they maintain personal contacts.
The Supply Chain Cooperation Unit is focused on
optimal service of the retail supply chain partners. 

In a challenging environment of powerful retailers
and growers, it is now up to us to continue to find
balance through open dialogue with our members.
We are only at the start of that process, but together
we have set the course and our foundation is strong.

In 2015, the sale of assets was further implemented in
order to improve the balance sheet structure. This
resulted in the company no longer having to rely on
bank loans since May 2015 and only using accounts
receivable financing.

In November 2015, Bert Jansen (Chairman) and Mieke
Bello (member) stepped down from their roles on the

Supervisory Board of The Greenery. The Management
Board and Supervisory Board respect their decision
and thank them for their hard work for The Greenery.
In December, Bas Feijtel was appointed Chairman of
the Supervisory Board.

CEO Ton Wortel also left The Greenery, effective from
1 December 2015. The role of CEO was temporarily
filled by CFO Philip Limvers. On 23 February 2016,
Steven Martina was appointed CEO of The Greenery.

The Greenery is and remains unique in the delivery of
a complete assortment of fruit and vegetables all year
round. We also continue to distinguish ourselves from
other organisations through our deep knowledge of
products and markets. Due to the complete
implementation of SAP, our supply chain is optimally
designed, and our sales organisation is now equipped
for maximum service of both the supply chain
partners and the growers. Together with our growers,
we therefore look forward to 2016 with confidence.

Gerard Pronk Steven Martina
Chairman, Coöperatie Coforta U.A. CEO, The Greenery B.V.

Barendrecht, 29 March 2016
  

Brassica oleracea botrytis cymosa (broccoli)
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About The Greenery

Distribution Centre in Barendrecht

The Greenery is an international fruit and vegetable company. Every day, The

Greenery works with its growers, employees, clients and suppliers to allow

consumers to enjoy natural, healthy and ultra-fresh fruit and vegetables.

Company profile
Established in 1996, the Greenery is fully owned by
the Coforta cooperative. Over 500 predominantly
Dutch growers of fruit and vegetables are members of
the cooperative. The Greenery also works with
international growers, supplementing the Dutch
assortment with imported products.

By focusing on continuity in every single
collaboration, we can supply more than two hundred
different products that meet the requirements and
specifications of our clients every day. This allows us
to deliver and distribute a complete and ultra-fresh
assortment of fruit and vegetables all year round to
national and international supermarket chains,

wholesalers, caterers and the processing industry. We
offer our clients good quality at an attractive price. 

The Greenery distinguishes itself in the market
through its wide variety of products and services,
close relationship with growers, knowledge of the
fresh produce market and focus on innovation and
food safety. Due to its excellent supply chain
management, The Greenery can also manage all flow
of goods effectively and make sure the right products
are linked directly to the right clients.

Core values
Our employees are motivated by a set of shared basic
values. Alongside our agreements with clients,
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growers and other stakeholders, our core values help
to make us the most trusted supplier of fruit and
vegetables. Our core values are:

RELIABILITY
We do what we promise and we deliver high-quality
and safe products in a reliable way.

CLARITY
We make clear agreements and always operate
within the law and our own standards and values.

DRIVEN
We are always committed to serving our growers and
clients.

Legal structure
The shares in The Greenery are wholly owned by
Coöperatie Coforta. Though originally a Dutch
cooperative, Coöperatie Coforta's membership now
extends to include a select group of international
growers. This enables us to better meet demand for
local produce and improves our cooperation with
international suppliers. Together with our growers, we
have considerable expertise in the fields of
cultivation, products, consumers and logistics.

For further information, please see Corporate
governance.

Pleurotus djamor (pink oyster mushroom)
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Organisational structure
In order to better respond to the wide range of
interests of our growers and to optimally serve the
market, in 2015 The Greenery drew up a proposal for
a new organisation structure, which was
implemented from 1 January 2016. In this new
business unit structure, in which product-specific
knowledge is central, a 'sales table' has been set up

for each product unit, which exclusively serves the
relevant product unit. The sales table teams are fully
up to date on the availability of products among
growers and suppliers, quantitative and qualitative
demand, specialist quality requirements per market,
logistics flows, storage life and developments in the
field of sustainability for their product unit.

Organisational structure as of 1 January 2016

General Management of The Greenery B.V.

Shared services
Retail supply 

chain cooperation

E-commerce

Account management

Sales department

Marketing

Subsidiaries

Hoogsteder Groep

Wagenaar

Mulder Onions

Hollander
Barendrecht

Greenhouse 
vegetables

Rich soil produce

Import

Business unit Vegetables,  
Fruit and Exotics

Top fruit

Mushrooms

Soft fruit

Naturelle  
(organic)
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Product Units

Top Fruit
All varieties of apples and pears come under the Top
Fruit product unit. The Greenery delivers more than
85% of the quantity of top fruit to supermarkets. ‘Club’
varieties represent a key aspect of our top fruit strategy.
These exclusive varieties provide an alternative to the
unrestricted varieties and a distinctive assortment that
offers opportunities for a higher profit. The apple
variety Junami is a good example of this, as is the pear
variety Sweet Sensation. At The Greenery we help our
growers to cooperate and exchange knowledge on
these club varieties.

Soft fruit
In addition to our substantial strawberry fields, we
offer a full assortment of stone fruit and woody small
fruit. Cherries, rhubarb, peaches, plums, red currants,
blueberries, blackberries and raspberries are available
at the very best quality. The Soft Fruit unit also
includes the speciality asparagus, which comes in
three varieties: white, green and purple.

Greenhouse vegetables
These vegetables include the whole assortment of
vegetables grown in a greenhouse, such as tomatoes,
cucumbers, peppers, courgettes, aubergines and chilis.
Innovative and expert growers select special varieties
to keep up with ever-changing consumer demand. A
good example of this is snack vegetables, such as small
tomatoes, cucumbers and peppers. A healthy snack
alternative, in handy packaging you can take with you.

Mushrooms
The Greenery supplies a complete assortment of
mushrooms for the fresh market and for industry.
Most mushrooms are available in the Netherlands all
year round via retailers, catering wholesalers and
specialist suppliers. Our access to a large acreage of
cultivated mushrooms and our extensive network
allow us to supply an assortment of mushrooms to
meet the individual needs of each client.
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Rich soil produce
Rich soil produce includes all lettuce varieties as well as
leafy vegetables, cabbages, root vegetables, tuber
vegetables and stem vegetables. Staple products also
fall under this product unit. These are products that are
usually harvested in large quantities at the end of the
season, in order to be kept in cool stores to ensure
availability for a prolonged period, such as white and
red cabbage.

Import
The Import product unit includes groups of fruit and
vegetables that are imported all year round, such as
exotic fruits, citrus fruits and sub-tropical fruits. This
product unit also includes all other vegetables and
fruit imported to ensure The Greenery can supply its
complete assortment all year round.

Organic
Within the Organic product unit, Naturelle offers organic
fruit and vegetables from home and abroad. The main
products within this product unit are tomatoes,
cucumbers, peppers, aubergine, cauliflower, broccoli
and mushrooms, although the entire assortment of
organically grown fruit and vegetables is available.
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Subsidiaries

HOLLANDER BARENDRECHT
As a supply chain partner for retail, Hollander is
responsible for the distribution of fresh and
refrigerated produce to supermarkets in the
Netherlands. As well as storage and distribution,
Hollander delivers added value for various
improvement programmes, supply chain projects and
activities such as forecasting, replenishment and
backhauling. This service provision dovetails perfectly
with The Greenery's strategy.

HOOGSTEDER GROUP
Hoogsteder Group specialises in the sale of fruit and
vegetables in Southern Europe, the Middle East, the
USA and Japan. The Group supplies almost all large
retail companies in France and Italy; in Spain the
focus has traditionally been on wholesale. In France,
Hoogsteder has the highest sales from the
Netherlands of all Dutch exporters. The company Den
Berg is a specialist for Switzerland, and Produce
Overseas focuses on the Middle East, the USA and
Japan. An independent air-freight carrier, Blue Sky
Cargo specialises in the transportation of perishable
goods such as fruit and vegetables as well as flowers
and plants. All parts of the Hoogsteder Group are
specialists in their respective fields and hold a
significant market position. Hoogsteder has its own
logistics centre in Bleiswijk.

WAGENAAR
The Dutch fresh produce wholesaler JH Wagenaar
specialises in serving industrial clients, with sales
throughout Europe. Within the fresh goods market, JH
Wagenaar has also specialised in sales of staple
products, and it delivers rich soil as well as
greenhouse products to retail, cutting, wholesale and
gastronomic clients.

MULDER ONIONS
Mulder Onions specialises in trading onions and
potatoes. These products are sold worldwide, with
Mulder Onions taking the clients' wishes in terms of
size and packaging into account, since these vary
dramatically by country. Besides small packages for
supermarkets, Mulder Onions also trades considerable
volumes through wholesale markets. Mulder exports
Dutch products and also purchases worldwide.

Brassica oleracea capitata sabauda (savoy cabbage)
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General Management
Report

Sustainable apple growing by grower Anton van Wijk

In 2015, we were able to start reaping what we had sowed in previous years.

It was a year of modernisation, innovation and perspective. Transparency,

both internally and externally, was found to be an absolute prerequisite.

Strategy and objectives
In 2015, the strategic focus was on growth in the
broadest sense, with turnover growth as exponent.
We translated this to the following objectives:
• strengthening our retail position in core markets
• modernisation of the Cooperative
• development of new concepts
• optimisation of the client portfolio in trade markets
• strengthening the balance sheet position

We also focused structurally on further management
of the costs, through increasing operational efficiency
and other methods.

Strengthening our retail position in
core markets
The further strengthening of our retail position in our
core markets (the Netherlands, Germany and the
United Kingdom) was one of our most important
focus points in 2015. We also want to use the supply
chain cooperation model, as implemented so
successfully at Jumbo, with other retailers.

Due to cuts and reorganisation of the commercial
departments and the resulting reduced capacity, the
focus on this objective was not structural.
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Nevertheless, retail showed growth in both volume
and revenues in the Netherlands and Germany this
year. In the United Kingdom, the results were less
satisfactory. In order to promote recovery, a
reorganisation was carried out here, with the first
results already visible.

In December, the first pile was driven for the
expansion of the retail distribution centre in
Barendrecht, to house the extension of the retail
activities, including import.

Modernisation of the Cooperative
The modernisation of the Cooperative is a theme that
we have been working on longer than just the past
year. This year we have taken major steps which have
strengthened our confidence that the Cooperative has
a continued existence in the future. The agreements
we have made with growers are now being
developed formally and will form the basis for our
cooperation from 2016. The starting point remains
ensuring a good price for growers in combination with
a turnover that covers the costs for The Greenery. For
the part that is sold through the Supply Chain
Cooperation Unit, a supplementary payment will be
calculated for additional services. The organisational
structure was adjusted from 1 January 2016 in order to
achieve this, in a way that can be attributed to the
various product units. This means that more
customisation can be offered per product unit and
grower and the influence of growers on the sales
strategy increases.

Development of new concepts
Both the retail market in general and the market for
fresh fruit and vegetables are changing rapidly. This
creates opportunities for us and our growers.

For a while now, the economic situation has left little
room for expensive and long-term development of
new varieties. The Sweet Sensation pear, our latest
innovation, is now also grown in the southern
hemisphere, which means it can be offered all year
round.

In 2015, the online platform Verse Oogst
demonstrated strong growth. At www.verseoogst.nl
and the associated social media, growers share
seasonal information about their company and
products, inspiring recipes and handy tips. This is
completely in line with the consumers' requirement

for information about honest and traceable food, and
with the advice from the Netherlands Nutrition Centre
(Voedingscentrum) to eat more fruit and vegetables,
which was renewed in 2015.

In response to the increasing demand from
consumers for convenient and healthy food, since this
year, The Greenery has been supplying complete
packages with all ingredients for soup or apple pie,
for example, to its retail clients. The measured
quantities of fresh ingredients in the package help to
combat food waste and allow consumers to prepare
an easy and responsible meal. In the summer, a
grilling vegetables package was introduced to inspire
consumers to eat more vegetables with a barbecue.

E-commerce and the advent of food boxes have now
also reached food retail. This development is
significant and has consequences for The Greenery
and its partners. As a logistics service provider, we
must learn to operate in this new form of fulfilment
and distribution. Through a pilot with the Verse Oogst
Box, we are investigating the possible impact of this
development for our organisation and our partners.
The knowledge we gather through this pilot will be
shared with our partners.

For retailers, this year a new packaging for tomatoes
became available, the BioBased tomato box. The first
experiences with this sustainable cardboard box,
made from tomato stem fibres, show that it is in fact
slightly stronger than the conventional boxes. We are
now investigating whether the box can be produced
all year round, instead of just in August when the
greenhouses are cleared out. Various growers have

Citrus limonum (lemon)
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now shown interest in a branded BioBased tomato
box.

Optimising the client portfolio in
trade markets
In order to increase efficiency, we have also
optimised our client portfolio. This has led to a
reduction in the number of trade clients. For strategic
clients, we are focusing on volume and expansion of
the assortment. The service to non-strategic clients
will be standardised as much as possible.

Despite the decrease in the number of clients, the
volume remained the same in comparison with 2014
and revenues increased. Our objective is to further
optimise the client portfolio by standardising our
services as much as possible.

Increasing operational efficiency
The planned increase in productivity at the DCs was
fully achieved through more efficient organisation
and management of work processes. Through the
'first time right' methodology, a major saving was
also achieved on supply chain costs, which resulted in
a reduction in the total supply chain costs. The now
full implementation of SAP has also contributed to
further improvement of the efficiency of the supply
chain.

This year, the number of growers with home-based
transshipment facilities was expanded again. In total,
almost 60% was loaded directly from the grower in
2015 (2014: 54%). This means a major reduction in
transportation and therefore in fuel and CO2

emissions, leading to lower supply chain costs.

Strengthening the balance sheet
position
With a view to increasing our financial base, further
asset sales were effected in 2015 in order to
strengthen the balance sheet structure. This resulted
in the company no longer having to rely on bank
loans (with the exception of a number of guarantees)
since May 2015 and only using accounts receivable
financing. The company expects that for working
capital financing, the accounts receivable facility will
also be sufficient in the future.

BioBased tomato box

The Greenery achieved a world first in the area of
fruit logistics. For the first time, a piece of cardboard
packaging was presented that is manufactured from
tomato stem fibres. Duijvestijn's tomatoes are packed
in this BioBased box. It's not completely coincidental
that this Greenery grower was chosen as winner of
the Tomato Inspiration Award 2015 during the fair
days.

The BioBased tomato box is an innovation created
from cultivation, allowing finished crops to be turned
into a high-quality product and used to produce boxes
and smaller packaging. Thanks to the use of tomato
stem fibres, the boxes can be recycled multiple times,
more often than a standard cardboard box. Through
this innovation, The Greenery supports retailers for
whom sustainability is a high priority.
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Commercial developments

An optimum market approach requires product-specific knowledge. For The

Greenery, that knowledge goes beyond simple facts about the product itself.

We work with product teams that keep abreast of product availability from

growers and suppliers, technical quality requirements for individual markets,

logistics flows, shelf-life, sustainability developments, and more for their

product unit.

Top Fruit
The Russian embargo resulted in a negative
atmosphere during the beginning of the top fruit
season. In this period, a lot of volume was sold to
alternative markets. After this, the demand for top
fruit increased, particularly for pears. The Dutch pear
was received well in the Chinese market, which was
opened in 2014. There is considerable interest in the
Sweet Sensation pear, which is available from October
to March, both at home and abroad. The Sweet
Sensation is now also being grown in the southern
hemisphere and it will therefore be possible to offer it
all year round within a few years. Sale of the Junami
apple variety also developed positively, despite the
cold spring. Less volume was harvested, but work
with international partners was more intensive.
The volume of the Top Fruit product unit in 2015 was
11% of the member volume.

Soft fruit
Within the Soft Fruit product unit, turnover and
volume are increasing for most products, mainly
through autonomous growth among growers. The
supply of strawberries exceeded the magical figure of
22 million kilos, a new milestone. In the field of
logistics, an efficiency improvement was
implemented for asparagus in particular, resulting in
an improvement of delivery punctuality and
customer-friendliness of the DC in Breda.
The Soft Fruit product unit represented 22% of the
member volume in 2015.

Greenhouse vegetables
The market prices for greenhouse vegetables were
significantly higher in 2015 than in the previous year,
which resulted in a positive price effect. The price
increase was primarily a result of the combination of
extremely warm weather in Eastern Europe and the
slow start of the Spanish season due to this extreme
heat.

A club variety strengthens your position on the market

In addition to the Conference variety, pear grower Anton van Gils grows 3.5 hectares of Sweet Sensation, a red
pear variety with a delicious sweet taste. Van Gils: 'We strongly believe in bringing varieties to the market as
part of a concept. We made a conscious decision to plant a relatively large production area in order to become a
strong market player. Growing Sweet Sensation means I am assured of a stable price for the next five to ten
years. This is important for the continuity of my orchard. I am confident about the success of this strong and
stable variety, which is known for its good cultivation properties. This red pear is distinctive in appearance and
taste and will sell well in the highest segment of the market. I anticipate having to expand the acreage in the
future, but this will never become a bulk variety. The Greenery offers cultivation support for this variety and
takes care of sales. The Greenery’s efforts in the field of marketing and publicity will contribute enormously to
consumer familiarity with Sweet Sensation.'
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The picture was varied for the tomatoes product
group. Particularly the larger individual segments
(round and beef tomatoes) had a very moderate
season. The vine segments did relatively well,
especially due to the absence of Spanish volumes in
the autumn. Cucumber turnover decreased. The
demand for peppers stabilised at a reasonable level.
The price level could also be maintained, although as
yet insufficiently to offset the impact of the Russian
embargo. The recent opening of the Chinese market
has not had any impact on this yet. For aubergines,
2015 started badly due to high quantities from Spain.
The loss of the Russian market also had a major
impact here. After the summer period, the market for
aubergines improved and the heat in Eastern Europe
as well as the slow start for Spain eventually resulted
in a moderate year. The Greenhouse Vegetables
product unit represented 47% of the member volume
in 2015.

Mushrooms
In our neighbouring countries and in Poland, the
pressure from local produce increased, so exports fell.
In 2015, the groundwork was laid for an improvement
of results. The further optimisation of our packing
location represented a major step in the right
direction. Both for fresh and industrial mushrooms, a
growth in volume was achieved and The Greenery's
market share increased; the figure of 25 million kilos
is now in sight. The Mushrooms product unit
represented 4% of the member volume in 2015.

Rich soil produce
The Dutch market for rich soil products has been
stable for years. After the loss of the Russian market,
most sales are domestic, since our neighbouring
countries are (increasingly) self-sufficient. In 2015,
long dry periods were followed by periods of
relatively high rainfall. These extreme weather
conditions had a major impact on sales, pricing and
cultivation of the crops. During the spring, sales and
pricing were favourable for most crops. From mid-
June/July, there was a turnaround, followed by a
period of low prices in the free market, in
combination with an ample supply. Around mid-
August, an improvement was seen. Although the
quantity of various crops came under pressure as a
result of the weather conditions, prices recovered.
Most crops were able to benefit from this until the
end of the growing season. The Rich Soil product unit
represented 16% of the total volume in 2015.

Import
Due to the moderate harvest results in Spain, import
had a poor start to the spring. In the summer, volume
and gross contribution recovered, however. Of the
total imported volume in 2015, 70% was sold to the
Dutch and European retail markets; 30% was
delivered to wholesale clients. The products came
from more than 65 countries, spread across all
continents. The increased volume is the result of a
strong growth trend in all product groups.

Organic produce
The demand for organic fruit and vegetables
continues to grow, both in the Netherlands and
abroad. Alongside the Netherlands, Germany and
Scandinavia are important sales markets. Although
the number of suppliers of organically grown products
is increasing, the total volume is insufficient to meet
increasing demand. This is partly due to the
reorganisation that took place at Naturelle in 2014. For
the coming financial year, we expect further growth
through the development of new product/market
combinations. In order to better guarantee the
continued supply of sufficient products, capacity at
Naturelle has been expanded.

Brassica oleracea var. gemmifera (Brussels sprouts)
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Supply chain cooperation and retail
The Supply Chain Cooperation/Retail unit served large
retail clients in the Netherlands, Germany and the
United Kingdom in 2015. For these clients,
sophisticated logistics solutions are available,
allowing them to be optimally served. Revenues from
retail customers continued to grow in 2015, due in
part to the new concepts that we developed in close
collaboration with growers.

Subsidiaries

HOLLANDER BARENDRECHT
The volume processed by Hollander in its distribution
centre rose to 59.1 million packages, an increase of
more than 7% in comparison with 2014. The
structurally high volume required a reorganisation of
the operational processes, which was initiated in
mid-2015. In line with Hollander's strategic plan, a
number of organisational changes were carried out,
to allow the organisation to take the next step
towards maximum supply chain management. The
objective of this is to increase the quality and
availability of fresh products for consumers. Due to
the increased volume and operational performance of
Hollander, the operating result was higher than
budgeted.

HOOGSTEDER GROUP
Hoogsteder's volume has risen by more than 30%,
from 8 million to 10.7 million sold packages. This
revenue growth was visible in France and Italy as well
as Spain and Switzerland, and is partly due to the
excellent weather in southern Europe, but also to a
higher availability of product. Another reason can be
found in the growth of sales to almost all existing
clients, but also to large new clients in various
countries. The higher volumes in almost all products
and the improvement in the market position have led
to further efficiency improvements and therefore
contribute to a better result.

Despite the difficult start after the reorganisation and
new leadership in the Produce Overseas (USA) and
Blue Sky Cargo units, these units displayed
satisfactory results over the course of the year. In the
coming period, further growth and improvement of
the results are a priority. For 2016, the introduction of
a new shared ERP system is planned, which will
deliver increased efficiency and improve insight into
the performance of various units.

JH WAGENAAR GMBH
Due to the reduced availability of products,
particularly for industry, total sales in kilogrammes
were slightly lower in comparison with 2014. Due to
the high pricing, revenue in 2015 grew in comparison
with 2014, however. Despite the disappointing
volumes for industry, the operating profit remained
level. In 2016, JH Wagenaar will focus further on sales
to Eastern and Central Europe.

MULDER ONIONS
The onion market was also also subject to fluctuating
global demand in 2015, caused by the impact of the
changing weather on crop yields. Mulder Onions
performed well in this difficult market. The total sales
were above expectations in 2015 and the operating
profit also showed a positive development.

Cucurbita pepo (courgette flower)
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Financial performance

• Net revenue increased by 2% to € 1.1 billion
• Volume decreased by 13% through departure of members and reduced imports
• The price level was on average 15% higher than in 2014
• The gross margin declined, particularly due to poorer performance in the UK and USA
• Operating expenses fell by 4.0% to € 158.9 million
• The balance sheet was improved by the sale of real estate
• Poorly performing business units were reorganised, closed or sold
• Programme for sale of assets continues
• Net profit increased to € 4.1 million

The reorganisation implemented in 2014, in
combination with additional measures taken in 2015,
led to an improvement in the financial results in 2015.
Due to the programme to sell assets to repay bank
loans, started in 2014, the company has no longer had
to rely on credit lines - with the exception of a
number of bank guarantees - and has only used
accounts receivable financing and members' loans.

Net revenue

x € million 2015 Share

Index
compared

to 2014

The Netherlands 674.6 61% -2%
Germany 163.0 15% 15%
United Kingdom 94.4 8% 35%
Rest of Europe 117.3 11% -8%
Rest of the world 57.7 5% -4%
Total 1,107.0 100% 2%
    

Germany and the United Kingdom demonstrated
revenue growth, particularly among retail clients. In
the Netherlands and all other countries, revenue fell.
Around 93% of the revenue was achieved in the fruit
and vegetables sector.

The revenue was achieved with decreasing volumes,
but significantly higher prices in comparison with
2014. Over the course of the year, weather conditions
in other production countries placed upwards pressure
on prices in many product groups.

x € million 2015 2014

Fruit and vegetables related 977.5 945.2
Services 70.4 77.3
Other activities 5.0 5.0
Net revenue from continuing
operations

1,051.9 1,027.5

Operations to be discontinued 55.1 58.6
Total 1,107.0 1,086.1
   

Operating profit

x € million 2015 2014

Gross contribution 159.6 160.9
Personnel expenses - fixed 66.1 67.6
Personnel expenses - variable 24.7 26.1
Other operating expenses 37.6 43.0
EBITDA 31.2 24.2
Depreciation 15.0 18.2
Impairments of
fixed assets 4.3 2.0
Operating profit from
continuing operations 11.9 4.2
Operating profit from
operations to be discontinued (8.2) (12.3)
Operating profit 3.7 (8.1)
   

The operating profit was € 3.7 million, an
improvement of € 11.8 million in comparison with
2014. Adjusted for business units which were on sale
or awaiting closure on the balance sheet date, the
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operating profit improved by € 7.7 million. Significant
cost-savings of € 8.3 million were achieved, but these
were partly offset by the lower gross contribution.
Factors that account for the lower gross contribution
include the decrease in rental income following the
sale of real estate in 2015, and lower CMO income.
This was compensated by a one-off book profit on the
sale of real estate. Part of the saving on personnel
expenses was cancelled out by additional pension
indexation costs incurred.

Financial income and expenses
The financial income and expenses amounted to € 7.9
million, a decrease of € 280,000. This decrease is
mainly driven by the repayment of bank loans
following the sale of real estate in May. On the other
hand, the interest rate charged was higher than in
2014.

Income from associates
The share in the result of associates amounted to € 11
million in 2015, an increase of 5% in comparison with
2014. This consists largely of our share in the profit of
EuroPool Systems.

Net profit
The net profit amounted to € 4.1 million in
comparison with € 2.0 million in 2014. This
improvement is from ordinary activities.

Investments and disposals
Real estate was sold in 2015, as in 2014. In May,
import DC and land from the former fruit warehouse
in Barendrecht were sold to WDP. WDP is building an
extension to the existing retail DC on this site, where
the import activities will also be housed. The
packaging warehouse in Barendrecht was also sold to
WDP. This warehouse will also be closed (in phases),
after which new building will follow. This project is
being carried out in cooperation with EuroPool
Systems. Finally, the real estate in Breda was also
sold to WDP, who will use the site partly for the
construction of a new soft fruit DC. In May, an
industrial building in Bleiswijk was sold to Houweling
B.V., who were already renting this facility.

The proceeds from all disposals amounted to € 50.9
million. This was offset against a tax liability on the
book profit of € 9.3 million.

The investments in 2015 amounted to € 5.6 million,
comparable with 2015. Investments were primarily
made in transport vehicles, ICT and machines.

Balance sheet position
The balance sheet total decreased by € 67.1 in
comparison with 2014. On the assets side, the sale of
real estate made a significant contribution to this, but
the decline in the accounts receivable position also
contributed. The lower accounts receivable position is
the result of proactive accounts receivable
management on the one hand and the
implementation of supply chain finance on the other.
On the liabilities side, the reduction in the balance
sheet total is almost entirely accrued to current
liabilities.

Cash flow
The cash flow from operating activities improved
significantly in comparison with 2014, by more than
€ 51 million. In addition to the better operating profit,
better working capital management also contributed
to this. The sale of assets further reinforced the
positive cash flow. However, corporate income tax
was paid, in contrast to 2014. Loans were also
provided on a limited scale; in particular to facilitate
real estate transactions. The cash flows were used
primarily for the repayment of bank loans and
members' loans.

Equity and financing
The group equity increased by € 6.4 million. Both the
positive net result (€ 4.1 million) and the change in
the accounting policy for pensions (€ 8.2 million)
contributed positively to this. This was offset against
a write-down of real estate of € 4.1 million and
exchange rate differences of € 2.1 million.

Throughout the whole year, the company was placed
under the Special Asset Management department at
the banks. A condition for transfer to regular account
management was that the company must be able to
provide for its financial requirements through the
accounts receivable financing facility. Since the real
estate transactions in May, the company has no
longer made use of other credit lines, with the
exception of bank guarantees. The proceeds from the
sale of assets were used to reduce the credit lines.
This process is expected to be completed in the first
half of 2016.
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Risk management

Taking risks is inherent to business. By consciously weighing up our objectives

and the risks we are willing to take, we aim for resilient and socially

responsible business operations. In this way, we increase the chance of

achieving our strategic objectives. 

The Greenery sees risks as threats to the achievement
of the organisation's objectives and wants to manage
these risks in an integral way. Integral means that risk
management is based on a central vision and
approach and that there is a high degree of certainty
that material risks are managed appropriately.
Integral also means that all relevant risk areas are
covered.

Risk management framework
In 2015, a risk management framework was
formulated, which describes how the General
Management of The Greenery manages the risks the
organisation is exposed to in an integral fashion. On
the basis of the risk management framework, risk
management within The Greenery can be further
developed in the future.

The Greenery's risk management framework is based
on the best practice COSO ERM model, but the
implementation is tailored to the specific context,
requirements and vision of The Greenery.

The General Management are the owners of the risk
management framework and ensure that it is up to
date and communicated to the employees. The risk
management framework is approved by the
Supervisory Board. A risk management framework
review and update takes place centrally, at least once
a year, and is carried out by the General Management
in consultation with the management team (MT).

Risks and risk management are a recurring agenda
item at meetings of the General Management and the
Management of The Greenery. For the management
of the operational risks, various guidelines and
procedures (including segregation of duties) are in
place to prevent specific situations, and measures

have been taken to identify and prevent possible
consequential damage.

For all employees within The Greenery, the risk
management framework is the model for organising
their own processes and work activities from the
perspective of risk management in a responsible and
effective way. This is effected through line
management and is primarily the responsibility of the
MT of The Greenery.

Upon their employment, new employees are
informed of the code of conduct and other important
standards that make up part of the management
framework, such as the company's competition policy.
This knowledge is periodically refreshed and updated
through training sessions. These aspects are also
involved in management meetings and during
evaluations. All of this helps to maintain a culture in
which it is clear for everyone that behaviour not in
line with the applicable standards is not accepted.

Risk tolerance
The Greenery's risk tolerance is set out through its
mission, vision and core values. In determining and
responding to risks, the central question is which
undesirable events and obstacles can be identified in
relation to the objectives that The Greenery
formulates. The Greenery faces various strategic,
operational and financial risks, which pose a threat to
achieving its objectives. These risks are inherent to
the business activities. Acceptance of a specific risk
level is a necessary condition for The Greenery to
achieve its strategic, operational and financial
objectives. The risk tolerance varies per risk category.
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Policy regarding the key strategic and
operational risks
In consultation with operational management, the
General Management has identified the following
strategic and key operational risks and taken
mitigating measures to cover them.

LOSS OF VOLUME DUE TO DEPARTURE OF
COOPERATIVE MEMBERS
The departure of members has a negative effect on
the ability to optimally serve clients, and a lower
volume results in loss of economies of scale. To
manage this risk, on the one hand, the company
implemented reorganisations and restructuring
projects to increase its commercial and logistical
strength and therefore remain attractive to growers.
On the other hand, the company has placed greater
emphasis on other opportunities for achieving
volume, such as contracted purchasing. Through
matching purchasing and sales in advance wherever
possible, we can limit the risk for the organisation.

LOSS OF CLIENTS
In order to ensure that every client receives the right
attention, the decision was made to employ a
differentiated client approach to ensure focused client
treatment on the basis of turnover, turnover potential
and size. Again, the reorganisations implemented
here are focused on optimally serving clients.

QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE STAFF
LEVELS
To ensure effective business operations, the company
depends on good qualitative and quantitative staff
levels. Optimal staffing is guaranteed through a
thorough recruitment and selection system and
through a training and evaluation system.

COMPLIANCE
Violation of laws and standards in the area of crop
protection agents and food safety, but also in the area
of honest and ethical business practices, forms a key
risk for the company. This is further complicated by
the fact that the company operates in various
countries. In order to prevent this risk, a process has
been set up that starts with good information on
standards and regulations for all players in the supply
chain. The quality assurance department determines
the extent to which the applicable standards are met
through testing of random samples. For this purpose,
they work closely with clients and reputable testing
institutions or independent certifiers. Staff and
suppliers are trained in and tested on correct conduct.

Through 'tracking-and-tracing' we can act quickly if an
irregularity is observed in the area of crop protection
or food safety. This means we can limit the
consequences as much as possible.

Risk category Risk tolerance Note

Strategic Moderate The Greenery is prepared to take moderate risks in striving to fulfil its
ambitions. We always aim to find the right balance between our sales
function for members of Coöperatie Coforta (low risk tolerance) and the
commercial objectives of our business activities (high risk tolerance).

Operational Low The Greenery focuses mainly on preserving the continuity of sales of
Coöperatie Coforta members' fruit and vegetables, regardless of conditions.
We aim to manage the risks that could jeopardise this continuity wherever
possible. Our risk tolerance here is low. In the area of food safety, the risk
tolerance is relatively small and preventive and detective measures as well
as testing and 'tracking and tracing' are in place.

Financial Low We aim for a solid financial position, to adequately ensure continuity. Where
possible and appropriate, financial risks are covered or insured.

Compliance None The Greenery aims to comply with all applicable laws and regulations as
well as client requirements. We pay special attention to laws and regulations
as well as client requirements in the areas of crop protection agents, food
safety, environment, competition, corporate social responsibility and
sustainable business practices.
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DEPENDENCE ON AUTOMATION
The advancing automation of operational processes
has resulted in an increasing dependence on these
systems, which means disruption has a greater
impact. The company has located its server park with
a specialised external party, and made specific
agreements with that party on availability of the
systems. Communication lines are duplicated and fall-
back scenarios are available where possible.
Employees are trained to ensure correct use of the
systems. 

CONCENTRATION
The progressive concentration on both the supply and
demand sides of the company poses a risk, as this
has a negative impact on its negotiating position. For
this reason, the company is open to cooperative
partnerships that can strengthen its position.

COSTS
The success of the company is dependent on the
degree to which it can operate at market-compatible
costs. This means that excessively high costs form a
risk. In order to monitor the market conformity of
costs, tariffs charged are tested externally where
possible. Indications that the costs are excessive are
investigated and, where necessary, the cost structure
is adjusted.

Policy regarding financial risks
The key financial risks to which the company is
exposed are market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.
The market risk can be divided into price risk, interest
rate risk and currency risk. These risks are
continuously and closely monitored internally.
Management of these risks takes place through the
use of financial derivatives, among other things. The
company does not take any speculative positions with
financial instruments in this regard.

PRICE RISK
The company runs a price risk on its economic
inventory. In addition, it trades perishable goods, the
value of which in principle diminishes over time. The
company has a well-designed ERP system, through
which price risk is managed.

INTEREST RATE RISK
The variation in interest rates has an impact on the
company's (direct) result. The interest rate policy of
the group is focused, therefore, on limiting this risk
and is explained as follows: for variable interest rate
liabilities, the interest is fixed through interest rate
swaps. The effectiveness of the hedges is evaluated
periodically, and the hedges are subject to hedge
accounting.

CURRENCY RISK
With regard to its activities abroad (both purchasing
and sales) the company runs the risk of currency
fluctuations. The net currency position is covered
periodically.

LIQUIDITY RISK
The company aims to limit liquidity risk by
guaranteeing adequate availability of an accounts
receivable financing facility to support the operational
activities and to meet financial obligations. The
company has disposed of assets to repay the
remaining bank loans, which means that accounts
receivable financing currently meets the full financing
requirement. In 2016, the company will sell real
estate to build up a financial buffer to absorb
shortfalls. This buffer can also be used if, due to
higher market prices or volume, the working capital
increases.

Brassica oleracea botrytis var. botrytis (cauliflower)
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CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will fail to
meet its obligations with regard to a financial
instrument or a contract with a buyer, causing
financial loss. The company is exposed to credit risk in
connection with its business activities (primarily trade
receivables) and in connection with its financial
activities, including currency transactions and other
financial instruments. Where possible, the trade
receivables are placed with a credit insurer. For
uninsurable trade receivables, we apply internal limits
which are strictly monitored. The company also
provides harvest advances on a limited scale and in
exceptional cases, which are paid back through the
delivery of products. The concentration risk is limited
as we work with many buyers. For the largest of
them, we apply supply chain finance to ensure no
concentration risk occurs in these relationships.

On the reporting date, the maximum exposure to
credit risk amounts to the book value of the
receivables and liquid assets, as indicated in the
respective notes. The company considers that the
credit risk is low because a significant part of its trade
receivables are insured. The credit balances held at
banks are all credit balances at reputable banks.
Receivables as a result of harvest advances involve a
higher risk, as these are dependent on weather and
market conditions.

Embedding of risk management in
the organisation
In 2015, The Greenery started establishing the critical
success factors in relation to its core processes. This
process will be completed in 2016, after which success
factors and associated risk management measures
will be assigned to the relevant line managers.
Operational risk management is focused on the
management of the quality of core processes, in such
a way that the quality requirements for products/
services are achieved.

Line management is therefore co-responsible for
implementation of the risk management policy, and
renders account to the General Management on this
twice a year. Risk management is an integral part of
the regular reporting cycle and integrated into the
planning and control process.

The General Management reports on and renders
account for the design and operation of the risk
management framework to the Supervisory Board
after preliminary discussion in the Audit Committee.

Artemisia dracunculus (tarragon)
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Sustainability

Clients of The Greenery can be assured that our fruit and vegetables will

always meet the highest quality standards, that our products are safe, and

that we operate within efficient and sustainable supply chains. With its

growers, suppliers and clients, The Greenery ensures that consumers can

enjoy healthy, honest and tasty products straight from nature.

Sustainability has been one of the pillars of our
business operations for years. In 2015 our principal
focus was on growers and on the supply chain as a
whole. Due to our strategic focus on recovery, in 2015
not all aspects of sustainability received the attention
they deserve – although financial results and
profitability in themselves are also elements of
sustainability. In late 2015 sustainability returned on
the agenda with our new sustainability strategy for
2020, which includes our sustainability ambitions for
the coming years.

Our sustainability policy hinges on four pillars:
• Growers and products
• Sustainable supply chain
• Employees
• Society

For each of these pillars we have formulated the
objectives below.

Pillar 1: Growers and products

Our growers' products are the result of sustainable
cultivation. All our members and suppliers are
certified according to social responsibility standards
selected by us, and also work in accordance with our
food safety and environmental standards. We
encourage our growers and suppliers to ensure
maximum sustainability in their working practices.

Pillar 2: Sustainable supply chain

By 2020 our entire supply chain will be sustainable.
Logistics processes are central to our business
operations. By making those processes even more
efficient, we will significantly support our
sustainability policy, for example through reduced CO2

emissions and fuel consumption.

Pillar 3: Employees

We deal with all our employees in a sustainable
manner, promoting their safety, health and
development. For further details, see the section
entitled 'Our employees'.

Pillar 4: Society

We promote the consumption of fresh fruit and
vegetables in accordance with the standards issued
by the Netherlands Nutrition Centre, in order to
contribute to a healthier and more sustainable society.
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Progress on sustainability in 2015

Progress regarding growers and products
In collaboration with our members and suppliers, in
2015 we continued our efforts to make our products
even more sustainable. We encourage our members
to adopt sustainable cultivation practices in the areas
of energy, water, waste and crop protection. We have
also assumed our own social responsibility by
committing ourselves to the following sustainability
initiatives:
• Ethical Trade Initiative (ETI)
• The Sustainable Trade Initiative (IDH)
• BSCI
• Sedex
• Fair Trade
• GRASP (all members were audited on 1 July 2015)

Progress regarding the sustainable supply chain
One major development in our efforts to make our
supply chain more sustainable is the practice of
home-based transhipment mentioned above: direct
transhipment from the grower straight to clients. In
2015, the number of growers with home-based
transhipment facilities grew by 10%.

This represents a substantial reduction in transport
movements and the associated fuel consumption and
CO2 emissions, and also results in lower supply chain
costs. The demand for home-based transhipment is
increasing. This has to do with the fact that today's
consumers demand ever more safeguards regarding
the origin of their food. Our aim, therefore, is to
increase the number of growing companies that are
suitable for home-based transhipment.

The need to further optimise logistics processes has
led us to reduce the number of DCs to two. The
closure of the old DCs has enabled us to substantially
reduce energy costs and transport movements.

Our attempts to minimise supply chain costs incurred
as a result of errors have allowed us to cut the
quantity of waste and the associated costs by a very
substantial margin. By offering 'fist-time right'
training programmes – derived from the Lean method
– we make our employees more aware of what they
can do to help reduce the waste volume.

10% expansion in home-based transhipment in 2015
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Sustainable cultivation

All our products from Dutch soil are the result of the
most advanced and sustainable cultivation techniques
used by our growers. A number of them make a
special effort to maximise sustainability in cultivation
by striving not only for perfection in taste, colour and
shape but also for a minimal environmental burden.
Examples of sustainable cultivation techniques include
bee deals, water-borne lettuce cultivation, the closed-
greenhouse principle, bio-fermentation and combined
heat and power technology. For more information, go
to the verseoogst.nl growers' platform.

Water-borne lettuce cultivation

Pater Broersen BV from Waarland is the first company
in the Netherlands to cultivate various lettuce
varieties on water in the open air. Products grown this
way require less labour and use less water and fewer
crop protection agents, whilst the emission of CO2 is
reduced as is the discharge of fertiliser into the soil
and surface water. In rainy periods the excess
rainwater is stored for later use in cultivation. The
fertilisers added to the water do not leach into the
surface water. Also, production in a growing pond
results in better working conditions and allows the
crop to be harvested by machine.

Combined heat and power technology

Strawberry grower Arno Loos is one of the few
growers to harvest in winter – without needing any
natural gas for heating. The adjacent bio-fermentation
plant produces enough heat and power for his entire
company, yielding a saving of 1 million cubic metres
of natural gas. Kwekerij Loos from Moerstraten built
the fermentation plant (the BioMoer) in collaboration
with two neighbouring businesses. The utilisation of
residual heat also helps to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions by no less than 12,000 kilotonnes of CO2.

Resilient cultivation and organic crop
protection

Noordhuys Tomatoes in Oude Tonge applies the
principles of resilient cultivation to 14 hectares of vine
cherry tomatoes. The plants are treated using organic
crop protection methods, ensuring that the existing
soil life is not disturbed. This has served to reduce the
use of chemical crop protection agents by 90%.
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Our employees

In order to retain our position as a leading business in the international trade

in fruit and vegetables, we are keen to identify and benefit from changes in

our environment. The lean core company will have a new organisational

structure characterised by short lines, allowing us to increase our operational

effectiveness.

It goes without saying that the organisational change
left its impact on our employees and on the
atmosphere within the company, but we are now
back on track to a great future. Due to our 'can do'
attitude and forced by the dynamics of the market in
which we operate, we have all put our shoulder to
the wheel from within our respective roles. We once
again take pleasure in our work.

Number of salaried employees

in FTE, year-end1 2015 2014

Number of employees in the
Netherlands 969 1,013
Number of employees outside
the Netherlands 358 393
Total number of employees 1,327 1,406
   

1 Excluding interns, temporary workers and interim staff.

Organisation
The efficient and effective organisation that we
wanted to create when we launched the
reorganisation project back in 2014 is now beginning
to take shape. Nevertheless, the need to control costs
remains important – as reflected, for instance, in
training budgets, the use of flex workers and
activities for employees.

We have reduced the number of employment
agencies we do business with from six to three. This
has enabled us to insist on better price agreements
and substantially reduce the employee expenses of
the DCs. In view of the seasonal pattern in our work,
a permanent flexible staff layer is a strategic choice.
Merging a number of locations will help increase the
deployability of our permanent employees and reduce
the number of temporary workers. The proportion of

permanent versus flexible staff is approximately
1000/400.

The changes that are to result in a product-oriented
sales organisation are now in full swing.

Development
The new organisation calls for a number of different
competencies and skills among our employees, such
as more self-management among managerial staff
and other supervisors. This explains the emphasis we
place on strengthening our employees through
development and training. However, as budgets are
limited we cannot achieve all our training objectives
at the same time and will have to make choices.
Mandatory and necessary training programmes, such
as forklift truck courses, company emergency
response programmes and responsible lifting and
lugging courses will of course continue to be offered.
The budget for other individual training programmes
is limited.

In view of the modest financial resources, in 2016 HR
will launch a study into the options for a structural
customised development programme.

Long-term deployability
Since long-term deployability is in everybody's
interest, it is a shared responsibility of the employer
and the employee. Promoting awareness of this fact
is an important element of our deployability policy.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
We aim to promote long-term deployability by
stimulating the health and safety of our employees.
We do so by means of prevention and research,
including periodic risk assessment and evaluations
(RI&E), safety walk-throughs, workplace studies and
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advice, information and exercises. Employees at the
various sites are a particularly vulnerable group due
to the physical demands that their work entails. A job
rotation system has been introduced at a number of
sites to prevent the same employees from having to
do the same or the heaviest work all the time. We
also organise language courses and programmes up
to senior secondary vocational education and training
levels 1 and 2 for employees with issues in these
fields. The measures and efforts aimed to guarantee a
healthy and safe work environment for our people are
described in the Arbo Care System.

As a good employer we strive to actively promote a
healthy lifestyle among our employees. In this
context, in 2015 we resumed the free distribution of
fruit in the DCs, and we encourage our employees to
take health and vitality courses, such as healthy
exercise and stopping smoking.

EMPLOYEE PARTICIPATION
Within the framework of sustainable deployability,
The Greenery attaches great value to the views of its
employees. The Works Council adequately represents
the workforce of the entire organisation. The various
sites of The Greenery each have their own local works
council, which discusses issues specifically relevant to
the site concerned, such as a proposed change in the
timetable. Following discussion in the local works
council, the proposal is submitted for approval to the
Works Council. The Works Council also comes into play

when the matter concerns the company as a whole.
In this way, in 2015 the closure of the Import DC was
prepared and the leasing scheme examined following
a positive recommendation by the Works Council. The
relationship between the Works Council and the
Executive Board is good. The Works Council
approaches the Executive Board from a positive yet
critical perspective and performs its role in a
pragmatic way. The Executive Board and the Works
Council meet every six weeks during the consultative
meeting, but they also have regular consultations in
an informal context.

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PARTICIPATION ACT
In collaboration with the Olympia employment
agency and Baanbrekend, a body that provides job
mediation services for benefit recipients, a pool has
been created of occupationally disabled persons that
come within the scope of the Participation Act
(Participatiewet). With effect from April 2015, every
week 40 to 50 employees from this pool were
deployed at the Barendrecht DC. In this way, The
Greenery met the jobs agreement from the
Participation Act with due regard for its own social
responsibility.

Barendrecht Retail DC

In the context of safety, our logistics employees at the Retail DC receive targeted training.
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Outlook for 2016

Commercial outlook
The Board expects volumes in 2016 to stabilise at the
level of 2015. Sales to retail clients in particular are
expected to show further growth, in line with our
strategy to focus on serving end consumers in the
supply chain. In 2016, we expect contracted purchase
to account for a larger share of the volume.

In the longer term, however, it is important for the
company to ensure that the volumes supplied by its
members through its affiliated Coforta cooperative
remain sufficient. The new structure of the sales
organisation enables us to serve clients in the various
sales channels in the best possible way. The changes
in the commercial organisation will also help to
further improve collaboration with our growers, laying
the foundations for future growth in membership
levels. In 2016 we will intensify collaboration
between the various subsidiary companies to ensure
better service to clients.

Financial outlook
The strategy focusing on supply chain cooperation and
cost-price leadership, launched in 2015, proved
effective in 2015. In that year profitability levels
improved, despite the high costs associated with the
disposal, restructuring or closure of loss-making
activities. The Board expects profitability to show
further improvement in 2016, due in part to additional
cost-saving measures and optimised logistics. The
company will continue on its path towards further
supply chain optimisation. In this context, the
enhanced ERP system proved to offer significant
competitive advantages. In 2016 the new expansion
of the Retail DC in Barendrecht will become available,
which will also be used to accommodate import
activities at that location. This will further improve
efficiency levels. The new facility for the soft fruit
segment at the Barendrecht DC will be completed in
late 2016. This will further improve efficiency.

In 2016, the company will maintain its focus on cost
reduction. For example, an external partner will be
engaged to review our facility purchasing contracts.
New calls for tender will be issued for a number of
products and services, for the dual purpose of
reducing unit costs and implementing process
improvements. At the same time however, the sale of

real estate means that our rental expenses will
increase, and it will also generate one-off relocation
costs. Nevertheless, the Board expects that the results
will improve.

The availability of sufficient funding − in the form of
working capital, for instance − is essential for the
continuity of the enterprise. The company has
traditionally used both bank credit facilities and an
accounts receivable financing facility. The programme
launched in 2014 with a view to generating liquidity
through the sale of assets and thus to repay our bank
loans was continued in 2015. The result was that in
May 2015 all our bank credit facilities were repaid and
that the company no longer uses the existing credit
facilities, with the exception of a few bank
guarantees. Based on its cash flow forecast, in 2016
the accounts receivable financing facility will suffice,
also because the company plans to sell real estate in
the first half of the year. The company is also
engaged in talks with a number of banks about a
credit facility for The Greenery in order to optimise
liquidity management.

Steven Martina (CEO)
Philip Limvers (CFO)
  

Carica papaya (papaya)
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Corporate governance

Raphanus sativus (radish)

Basic principles
The governance structure within Coforta/The
Greenery is of the 'hourglass' model, in which the
Management Board of the Cooperative and the
Members' Council constitute the most senior body
within the Cooperative, and with the General
Management (consisting of two directors) and a
Supervisory Board for the company. A two-tier board
structure is in place. The Greenery’s Articles of
Association incorporate a derogation from law of the
Supervisory Board appointments procedure for two-
tier board companies in that the Supervisory Board is
appointed by cooptation. A covenant has been
concluded with the Works Council containing
agreements on the composition of the Supervisory
Board, the recommendation rights of the Works
Council and the appointment of members of the
Supervisory Board.

The company's two-tier structure includes a statutory
General Management and a Supervisory Board. At
year-end 2015, the General Management comprised
one member.

At year-end 2015, the Supervisory Board comprised six
members. These are the five members of the
Cooperative’s Management Board and one 'external'
member.

Shareholding structure
All shares in the capital of the company The Greenery
B.V. are held by Coöperatie Coforta U.A. The
management and supervisory structure of the two
legal entities is described in the model on the next
page.
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Management Board of the
Cooperative
The Members’ Council appoints the Cooperative’s
Management Board, which had five members at the
close of 2015, all of whom were members of the
Cooperative. The composition of the Management
Board reflects the best possible mix of
representatives from the Cooperative’s membership
based on regions and product groups. The
Management Board is responsible for serving the
interests of the Cooperative’s members and the
business conducted by the Cooperative through The
Greenery and its subsidiaries.

The Greenery B.V. General
Management
Under the Articles of Association, the General
Management, which at the end of 2015 comprised a
single director, is responsible for managing The
Greenery. This includes formulating strategy and
policy as well as defining and achieving The
Greenery’s objectives. The General Management is
accountable to the Supervisory Board and to the
General Meeting.

Under the Articles of Association, the directors are
appointed by the Supervisory Board for a period of
four years. The Supervisory Board determines the
remuneration and other terms of employment for the

General Management members in accordance with
the remuneration policy approved by the General
Meeting.

Remuneration policy for the General
Management
The purpose of the remuneration policy is to attract,
motivate and retain experienced and qualified
directors for the General Management. The
remuneration structure for the General Management
aims to ensure an optimal balance between the
short-term results of the company and its long-term
objectives.

The total remuneration for statutory General
Management members is comprised of the following
components:
• a fixed basic salary;
• variable remuneration for performance in the short

term (one year);
• variable remuneration for performance in the long

term (three years);
• a pension plan.

BASIC SALARY
Once a year, on the Selection Committee's
recommendation, the Supervisory Board determines
whether and, if so, the extent to which the basic
salary is to de adapted, with due regard for, among

Legal structure

Coöperatie Coforta U.A.

The Greenery B.V.

Members

General Meeting of 
ShareholdersMembers’ Council

Supervisory BoardManagement Board

General Management

100% sole owner

The Greenery 
trading company

Subsidiaries 
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other things, market developments and the
company's results.

VARIABLE REMUNERATION FOR THE SHORT
TERM
Statutory General Management members qualify for
an annual bonus depending on the extent to which
they achieve pre-determined targets concerning the
operating result, cash flow, collaboration etc. These
targets are set by the Supervisory Board at the
beginning of the reporting year. This largely
performance-related annual bonus can add a
maximum of 30% to the basic salary of the member
concerned.

VARIABLE REMUNERATION FOR THE LONG
TERM
The remuneration for statutory General Management
members' long-term performance is geared to the
achievement of the targets set out in the Strategic
Plan and value creation over a period of three years.
The long-term bonus can increase the basic salary by
a maximum of 30%.

PENSION PLAN
the General Management takes part in a pension plan
approximately half of the costs of which are borne by
the employer.

Supervisory Board of The Greenery
b.v.
The Supervisory Board supervises the policy pursued
by the General Management as well as general
developments within The Greenery and its business.
In performing its tasks, the Supervisory Board aims to
promote the interests of the company and its
stakeholders.

The Greenery is subject to a statutory two-tier regime,
which means that the Supervisory Board has been
accorded the powers specified in Book 2, Title 5,
Part 6 of the Dutch Civil Code, including the
appointment of the General Management and the
approval of General Management resolutions defined
by law.

Furthermore, certain General Management resolutions
defined in the Articles of Association require prior
Supervisory Board approval.

COMPOSITION AND APPOINTMENT
At year-end 2015, the Supervisory Board comprised six
members. These are the members of the
Cooperative’s Management Board and one
Supervisory Board member who is not a member of
the Cooperative. The Chairman of the Supervisory
Board is Mr B.J. Feijtel and Mr G.W. Pronk is its Vice-
Chairman.

SUPERVISORY BOARD COMMITTEES
The Supervisory Board has established an Audit
Committee and a Selection Committee from among
its members.

Audit Committee
At year-end 2015, the members of the Audit
Committee were Messrs E.D. Drok (Chairman), G.W.
Pronk and B.J. Feijtel. The Audit Committee is
responsible for advising and helping the Supervisory
Board prepare decisions on financial matters. 

Selection Committee
At year-end 2015, the members of the Selection
Committee were Messrs G.W. Pronk (acting Chairman),
T. van Noord and E.D. Drok. The Selection Committee
is responsible for advising and helping the
Supervisory Board prepare decisions concerning the
selection, appointment and reappointment of
directors and Supervisory Board members. 

General Meeting of The Greenery B.V.
In the company’s General Meeting, matters handled
include the adoption of The Greenery’s financial
statements and granting The Greenery’s management
discharge from liability in respect of the performance
of its duties. Furthermore, General Meeting approval
is required for certain resolutions adopted by The
Greenery’s General Management as described in thePyrus communis (Sweet Sensation pear)
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Articles of Association, for example the adoption of
the strategic business plan and budget.

Share capital
The company has issued Class A shares and
cumulative Class B preference shares. All Class A and
B shares are held by the Cooperative, which means
that the Cooperative has complete control at the
General Meeting of Shareholders. During a General
Meeting of Shareholders, the Management Board of
the Cooperative exercises the voting rights attached
to the shares on behalf of the Cooperative. The
Cooperative has issued depositary receipts for
cumulative Class B preference shares without the
cooperation of The Greenery. The Cooperative serves
as a trust office for these depositary receipts. The
Cooperative’s Management Board also acts as the
trust office’s Management Board. Holders of
depositary receipts are not vested with the rights
accorded by law to holders of depositary receipts that
have been issued with the cooperation of a company. 

Each year prior to The Greenery's annual meeting, the
Cooperative, acting in its capacity as administrator,
convenes a meeting of depository receipt holders.
During this meeting, the depositary receipt holders
are informed and, in turn, provide feedback about the
resolutions to be passed relating to the adoption of
The Greenery’s financial statements as well as profit
appropriation.

In addition, the administrator provides an account of
its conduct during the financial year at this meeting.

Musa Sapietum (banana)
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Report of the
Supervisory Board

Rheum rhabarbarum (rhubarb)

Supervisory Board Report activities
The Supervisory Board met on sixteen occasions in
the 2015 financial year, and held a number of
additional consultations by telephone. Meetings were
held both in the presence and in the absence of the
General Management. The Supervisory Board
discussed a number of topics at length, such as the
financial results, the strategy and options for
collaboration to strengthen the company's strategic
position. In connection with the modernisation project
for the Cooperative, the Board discussed the
collaboration between the Cooperative and the
company and the change in the commercial
organisation of the business. In addition, the Board
discussed commercial developments; the adopted
strategy with its dual focus on intensive supply chain
cooperation with retail parties and cost control, was
continued without any changes and has yielded
positive results. The Board also evaluated the
performance of the General Management and its
members.

In late 2015, Supervisory Board members Mr Jansen
(Chairman) and Ms Bello (member) and the then CEO
Mr Wortel stepped down, due to a difference of
opinion regarding the implementation of the
company's policy. With the appointment of Mr Feijtel
as Chairman of the Supervisory Board on 17 December
2015 and Mr Martina as CEO on 23 February 2016, the
company has continued to pursue its chosen strategy
and policy.

The past year also saw constructive collaboration with
the Works Council. Representatives from the
Supervisory Board consulted with the Works Council
and its Executive Committee on several occasions
over the course of the year. Naturally, the changes in
the General Management and in the composition of
the Supervisory Board also required - and gained -
explicit attention from the Works Council.
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The Audit Committee's activities
The Audit Committee met five times in the year under
review in order to prepare decision-making on the
part of the Supervisory Board with regard to annual
report, the 2015 financial statements and the 2016
budget (among other things). Preparations were
made for the 2015 audit, and the Audit Committee
also discussed issues such as risk management,
results (including those generated by the Specials)
and the company’s liquidity position. A number of
topics were discussed in the presence of the external
auditor.

The Selection Committee's activities
The Selection Committee met six times over the
course of the financial year. In early 2015, the
Selection Committee finalised the recruitment and
selection process for the financial director and
Supervisory Boar member (who is also the Chairman
of the Audit Committee). Further to the departure of
Mr Wortel, the Selection Committee discussed the
general manager profile and took up the recruitment
and selection of candidates for these positions. In
addition, issues discussed include management
development, the performance of the General
Management and its members and the composition
of the Board. Following the departure of Mr Jansen
and Ms Bello, the job profiles for the Chairman of the
Supervisory Board and for the Supervisory Board at
large have also been reviewed.

Changes in the composition of the
Supervisory Board.
On 31 March 2015, Messrs T.L.J. Ammerlaan and
P.W.J.M. van Asseldonk stepped down as members of
the Supervisory Board. Mr A. Vos resigned his
membership on 1 April. On 4 November 2015 Mr E.D.
Drok joined the Supervisory Board. Mr B.C. Jansen
(Chairman) and Ms M. Bello resigned as Supervisory
Board members on 9 November 2015. On
17 December Mr B.J. Feijtel was appointed Chairman
of the Supervisory Board. For further details, please
see the biographies on page 44.

Financial Statements
The Supervisory Board has read The Greenery’s 2015
Annual Report, including the financial statements
consisting of the balance sheet as at 31 December
2015, the income statement for the year then ended
and the relevant notes.

The 2015 financial statements were initially discussed
by the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee, and
subsequently by the full Supervisory Board along with
the General Management and the auditors, Deloitte
Accountants. With due observance of the report
drawn up by Deloitte Accountants and the unqualified
audit opinion issued, the Supervisory Board members
signed the statements at the end of agreement. The
Supervisory Board also granted its approval of the
profit appropriation proposal presented by the
General Management as included in the other
information. The financial statements were
subsequently submitted to the General Meeting of
Shareholders for consideration and adoption. The
Supervisory Board proposes that the General Meeting
adopt the financial statements and grant the General
Management discharge from liability in respect of the
policy conducted over the financial year as well as the
Supervisory Board for the supervision it has carried
out in this regard.

Word of thanks
The Supervisory Board would like to thank the
General Management, the management and all The
Greenery’s employees for their commitment and
efforts throughout the past year.

Fragaria (strawberry)
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The Greenery B.V. General Management

Steven (S.A.) Martina (b. 1976)

Position: Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Appointed on 23 February 2016
Background information Economist and lawyer with
extensive experience in a range of commercial roles
within The Greenery.

Philip (P.R.) Limvers (b. 1964)

Position: Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
Appointed on 9 February 2015
Background information Business economist with over
25 years of experience in managerial positions at
companies in the Netherlands and abroad, including
Randstad, ICTS and G4S.

Ton (A.J.M.) Wortel (b. 1960)

Position: Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Period: until 30 November 2015

Koos (C.G.) Boot (b. 1961)

Position: Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
Period: until 30 September 2015
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The Greenery B.V. Supervisory Board

Bas (B.J.) Feijtel (b. 1967)

Position: Chairman of the SB and
member of the Audit Committee
of The Greenery B.V., and member
of the Management Board of
Coöperatie Coforta U.A.
Appointed to Supervisory Board:
11 February 2009
Appointed Chairman:
17 December 2015
Profession: Fruit grower, 21 ha of
pears
Background information: Mr Feijtel
has experience in various
positions, especially as provincial
secretary for ZLTO and Zeeland
Province. Gained experience as a
member of the Zeeland Provincial
Council until March 2015. He
performed supervisory roles at
various organisations, including
Rabobank, and currently at a
housing corporation. He is an
agricultural economist and owns a
fruit growing business that mainly
specialises in the cultivation and
cooled storage of pears.

Gerard (G.W.) Pronk (b. 1960)

Position: Vice-Chairman of the
Supervisory Board and member of
the Audit Committee and Selection
Committee of The Greenery B.V.,
and Chairman of the Management
Board of Coöperatie Coforta U.A.
Appointed to Supervisory Board:
16 December 2014
Appointed Vice-Chairman:
1 April 2015
Profession: Fruit grower, 22 ha of
pears
Background information: Mr Pronk
has vast experience in
administrative positions. He
chaired the Product Advisory
Committee (PAC), served as the
local and principal director of the
Dutch Fruit Growers' Organisation
and as an administrator within the
North Sea Pears alliance. Pronk
grows, stores, sorts and processes
pears at his own company and for
20 other growers in the same
region.

Theo (T.W.) van Noord (b. 1972)

Position: Member of the
Supervisory Board and of the
Selection Committee of The
Greenery B.V., and Vice-Chairman
of the Management Board of
Coöperatie Coforta U.A.
Appointed to Supervisory Board:
28 March 2012
Profession: Tomato grower, 14 ha
of greenhouses partly with
artificial lighting. Also owns a
packing station.
Background information: Mr Van
Noord has vast administrative
experience. He served as member
of the board of the Trospartners
growers' association. In addition to
running his tomato growing
business, he runs a business called
Noordhuys Packing, which
provides retail packing services for
all its own tomatoes and those
grown by third parties. Noordhuys
Packing also serves as an SSL
location that collaborates closely
with The Greenery.

44 Composition of governing bodies



Anton (A.W.G.M.) Hop (b. 1957)

Position: Member of the
Supervisory Board of The Greenery
B.V., and member of the
Management Board and member
of the Members' Affairs
Committee of Coöperatie Coforta
U.A.
Appointed to Supervisory Board:
1 April 2005
Profession: Rich soil vegetables
grower, approx. 50 ha
Background information: Mr Hop
has vast experience in
administrative positions, for
example in the Product Advisory
Committee for Field-Grown
Vegetables and at Sales
Committees.

Rob (R.J.G.J.) van der Wouw (b.
1969)

Position: Member of the
Supervisory Board of The Greenery
B.V., and member of the
Management Board of Coöperatie
Coforta U.A.
Appointed to Supervisory Board:
17 September 2014
Profession: Soft-fruit grower, 14 ha
of strawberries
Background information: Mr Van
der Wouw has vast experience in
administrative positions, for
example in the Product Advisory
Committee for Soft Fruit and in the
Members' Council.

Erik (E.D.) Drok (b. 1960)

Position: Member of the
Supervisory Board and member of
the Audit Committee of The
Greenery B.V.
Appointed to Supervisory Board:
4 November 2015
Profession: Supervisory Board
member, non-executive director
and corporate advisor in the
financial and retail sectors.
Background information: Business
economist and corporate lawyer
with over 25 years of experience
in executive positions in the Dutch
and international financial sector.
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Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
(before profit appropriation)

in thousands of euros Note 2015 20141

Assets

Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets 12 18,252 23,626
Tangible fixed assets 13 147,024 208,643
Financial fixed assets 14 49,162 39,192

214,438 271,461
Current assets
Inventories 15 11,895 13,476
Receivables and accruals 16 83,078 100,062
Cash and cash equivalents 13,182 4,681

108,155 118,219

Total assets 322,593 389,680

Liabilities

Group equity 17
Shareholders' equity 86,960 88,773
Non-controlling interest (140) (139)

86,820 88,634
Provisions and liablitiies
Product funds 18 5,797 5,967
Provisions 19 40,635 54,161
Long-term liabilities 20 51,519 56,349
Current liabilities and accruals 21 137,822 184,569

235,773 301,046

Total liabilities 322,593 389,680
    

1 The comparative figures have been adjusted for the change in accounting policy for pensions. For more information, refer to note 6

'Change in accounting policy'.
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Consolidated income statement

in thousands of euros Note 2015 20141

Net revenue 24 1,106,986 1,086,131

Cost of sales and subcontracted work 939,429 917,095
Wages and salaries 55,849 56,647
Social security charges 8,728 9,821
Pension costs 6,041 4,014
Depreciation 25 15,262 19,357
Impairments of (in)tangible fixed assets 26 4,882 11,582
Other operating expenses 27 73,055 75,690
Total operating expenses 1,103,246 1,094,206

Operating profit 3,740 (8,075)

Financial income and expenses 28 (7,934) (8,214)
Income on ordinary activities before tax (4,194) (16,289)

Taxes on income of ordinary activities 29 (2,708) (1)
Income from associates 14 11,026 10,489
Result on the sale of associates 7,800
Group net income after tax 4,124 1,999

Non-controlling interest (13) 25

Income attributable to the equity holders 4,111 2,024
    

1 The comparative figures have been adjusted for the change in accounting policy for pensions. For more information, refer to note 6

'Change in accounting policy'.
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Statement of comprehensive income

in thousands of euros Note 2015 20141

Group result after tax 4,124 1,999

Movement in UK pension provision 259 (1,751)
Revaluation of property (4,081) 522
Movements due to exchange differences (2,116) (867)
Total comprehensive income (1,814) (97)

Allocation of comprehensive income

Comprehensive income attributable to the equity holders (1,813) (61)
Non-controlling interest in comprehensive income (1) (36)
Total comprehensive income (1,814) (97)
    

1 The comparative figures have been adjusted for the change in accounting policy for pensions. For more information, refer to note 6

'Change in accounting policy'.
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Consolidated cash flow statement

in thousands of euros Note 2015 20141

Operating activities
Operating profit 3,740 (8,075)
Depreciation 25 15,262 19,357
Impairment on (in)tangbile fixed assets 26 4,882 11,582
Release of property, plant and equipment related EU grants (2,297) (3,043)
Result on the sale of subsidiaries 0 (160)
Movement in provisions (4,222) (19,153)
Movement in working capital 23,199 (11,932)
Operational cash flow 40,564 (11,424)
Interest (paid)/received 28 (6,283) (5,482)
Corporate income tax (paid)/received 29 (9,824) 235
Cash flow from operating activities 24,457 (16,671)

Investing activities
Investments in intangible fixed assets 12 (689) 0
Investments in property, plant and equipment 13 (5,306) (5,484)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 13 50,903 10,842
Divestment of subsidiaries 0 12,226
Divestment of associates 26,000
Loan redemption 436 20
Loans granted (4,374) (50)
Dividends received 4,910 5,500
Acquisition of associates (5)
Cash flow from investing activities 45,880 49,049

Cash flow from operating and investing activities 70,337 32,378

Financing activities
Increase in bank loans and other loans 20 1,893 1,901
Redemptions of bank loans and other loans 20 (55,900) (21,791)
Increase of members' loans 20 4,237 3,996
Redemption of members' loans 20 (10,497) (12,946)
Movement in product funds 18 (1,686) (1,802)
Cash flow from financing activities (61,953) (30,642)

Net cash flow 8,384 1,736
Exchange and translation differences in cash and cash equivalents 117 306
Movements in cash and cash equivalents 8,501 2,042

Cash and cash equivalents
Balance as at January 1 4,681 2,639
Movements 8,501 2,042
Balance as at December 31 13,182 4,681

      

1 The comparative figures have been adjusted for the change in accounting policy for pensions. For more information, refer to note 6 'Change in

accounting policy'.
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General notes

The Greenery B.V. ('the company') was incorporated on 31 May 1996 and has

its registered office in The Hague, the Netherlands. Coöperatie Coforta U.A.

('the Cooperative'), having its registered office in The Hague, holds 100% of

the shares in the company.

Amounts included in the notes are amounts in thousands of euros, unless stated otherwise.

1 Principal activities
The Greenery is a leading, international company
engaged in obtaining a full assortment of fruit,
vegetables and mushrooms from around the world
and supplying these fresh to its clients every day, all
year round. Its clients are mainly wholesalers and
supermarket chains in Europe and North America. The
company also supplies caterers and industry. The
Greenery B.V. has branches in 11 countries and its
policy and approach focus on market orientation, food
safety, sustainability, innovation and logistics
efficiency.

2 Continuity

Developments in 2015
The strategy towards supply chain cooperation and
cost-price leadership, launched in 2015, proved
effective in 2015. In that year profitability levels
improved, despite the high costs associated with the
disposal, restructuring or closure of loss-making
activities. The net result for 2015 is EUR 4.1 million.
Excluding the positive income from associates of EUR
11 million, the company registered a modestly
positive net result from continuing operations of EUR
1.3 million (2014 on a similar basis: € 4 million
negative).

The programme launched in 2014 with a view to
generating liquidity through the sale of assets and
thus to repay our bank loans was continued in 2015.
The result was that in May 2015 all our bank credit
facilities were repaid and that the company no longer
uses the existing credit facilities, with the exception
of a few bank guarantees. In consultation with the
company, the banks will terminate those existing
facilities on 1 July 2016. Since May 2015, the company

has only used the accounts receivable financing
facility, which is maximised at EUR 75 million, on the
basis of advances for trade receivables recognised by
the bank. In addition, due to the introduction of
supply chain finance with a major client, the use of
this facility decreased in 2015.

Outlook for 2016 and beyond
In 2016 the operating result is expected to show
further improvement; despite the positive
development of commercial and financial result, the
fall in members' volumes continues to require our
attention. Management expects to be able to absorb
this decrease in the short term through contracted
additional purchases. In addition, it focuses on the
need to bind members, which is important to ensure
the long-term continuity of the company and of
Coöperatie Coforta.

Management has prepared a liquidity forecast in
order to assess whether the company will be able to
meet its commitments in 2016 and subsequent years.
To that end, it has prepared assumptions regarding
volume and price developments, operating expenses,
working capital and potential risks. These
assumptions are updated on an ongoing basis.

The uncommitted accounts receivable financing
facility will remain an essential source of working
capital financing. In addition, the company expects to
receive income from the sale of real estate and is
anticipating the further introduction of supply chain
finance at another major client. A contract for the sale
of one real estate object has already been signed;
management expects to be able to complete the
transaction and receive the proceeds in the first
trimester of 2016. Talks with interested parties are
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underway on the sale of other real estate. The
company expects to take out a credit facility in 2016
to enable it to further optimise its liquidity
management.

Based on the liquidity forecast, prepared with due
regard for the measures taken, management expects
to have sufficient financial resources to continue
fulfilling its obligations. Hence, it has applied the
'going concern' assumption when preparing the
financial statements.

In 2016 the new National Strategy for the Common
Market Organisation for 2017 and beyond will be
published. The new multi-annual strategy and the
2017 Annual Plan will have to be based on this new
national strategy. Despite the fact that it has not yet
been published, there have been signals which reflect
the direction this strategy is likely to take. It appears
that the new National Strategy will aim to restrict the
provision of CMO funds to collective purposes, and
mainly to innovative projects. This means that part of
the activities that are currently eligible for subsidy
would no longer qualify for CMO funds in the future.
The impact of this cannot yet be determined with any
degree of certainty.

The company is prepared to create or join alliances
that will strengthen its position and ensure its
continuity in the long term. One example is our
collaboration with four other growers' associations in
the Federation of Vegetable Fruits Organisations
(Federatie Vruchtgroente Organisaties). The company
will probably start participating in projects organised
by the Federation in 2016.

3 Disposals
In 2015, following a EUR 2.5 million write-off on loans,
the group company Wagenaar GmbH was sold for an
amount of EUR 1.00.

4 Basis of consolidation
The company's consolidated financial statements
include the financial data of the group companies that
the company controls. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with
the accounting policies of the company.

The company's financial data are included in the
consolidated financial statements and, in accordance
with Section 402 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, the

company income statement has therefore been
drawn up in abridged form.

The financial data of group companies and other legal
entities and companies included in the consolidation
are consolidated in full. Intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated. Non-controlling
interests in the equity and results of group companies
are disclosed separately in the consolidated financial
statements.

The results of newly acquired group companies and
other legal entities and companies included in the
consolidation are consolidated from the date of
acquisition, unless stated otherwise. The results of
divested associates are consolidated to the date they
left the group.

A list of the names and registered offices of group
companies and associates has been filed at the
Chamber of Commerce in Rotterdam. An abridged list
of group companies is included (see page 83).

5 Basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the provisions of Part 9
of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Unless stated otherwise, assets and liabilities are
stated and the result is determined at historical cost.

Income and expenses are allocated to the year to
which they relate. Profits are recognised only if
realised at the balance sheet date. Losses originating
before the end of the financial year are recognised if
they are known before the financial statements are
prepared.

6 Change in accounting policy
In 2015 the company decided to change the method
for determining the pension provision, to the effect
that no provision will be included any more for the
anticipated (contingent) indexation obligation. This
obligation will only be taken into account in the
pension provision if and when it has become
unconditional. According to the company, this
measure will give users of the financial statements
more insight into the figures presented. The change in
accounting policy has been effected retroactively, and
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the comparative figures have been adjusted
accordingly.

The impact of the change on equity amounted to EUR
8.2 million positive at year-end 2014. As a result of
the change, the pension provisions at year-end 2014
are reduced by EUR 13.0 million.

7 Financial instruments
Financial instruments refer to both primary financial
instruments such as receivables and liabilities, and to
financial derivatives. Please refer to the treatment per
balance sheet item for the accounting policies relating
to the primary financial instruments.

The company's policy is to limit risks to an acceptable
level where possible, including managing credit risks
(mainly debtor risks), liquidity risks and cash flow
risks (foreign exchange and interest rate risk). Much
of the credit risk is insured with a credit insurer.
Foreign exchange positions are largely covered by
forward exchange transactions. Interest-rate
derivatives are used to hedge interest rate risks.

Hedging instruments at cost
Financial instruments that serve to hedge risks and
whose underlying securities are not publicly listed, or
for which no hedge accounting is applied, are stated
at cost or market value, whichever is the lowest.

The company applies hedge accounting based on
individual documentation for financial instruments
having a specific individual hedge relationship.
Generic documentation is applied to financial
instruments having a non-specific hedge relationship.
The company documents the way in which hedge
relationships match the objectives of risk
management, hedging strategy and expectations on
the effectiveness of the hedge.

General information on cost price hedge
accounting
The effective part of financial derivatives that have
been allocated to cost hedge accounting is valued at
cost. The ineffective part is recognised in the income
statement only where there has been a (cumulative)
loss.

Cost price hedge accounting for hedging the
interest rate risk
Cost price hedge accounting is used for interest rate
derivatives, which are valued at cost price throughout
their duration. Changes in the fair value are not
recognised in the income statement as long as there
is an effective hedge.

8 Accounting policies for foreign
currency translation

Receivables, liabilities and commitments in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates
prevailing at the balance sheet date. The exchange
differences resulting from translation at the balance
sheet date are taken to the balance sheet and income
statement, taking any possible hedge transactions
into account.

Transactions in foreign currencies during the period
under review are accounted for at the exchange rate
prevailing at the transaction date. The exchange
differences resulting from translation at the balance
sheet date are taken to the income statement.

Foreign group companies and associates qualify as
autonomous foreign entities. The financial statements
of the foreign entities are translated at the exchange
rate at the balance sheet date for items in the
balance sheet and at the average rate for items in the
income statement. Translation gains and losses are
taken directly to group equity.

9 Accounting policies for assets and
liabilities

Intangible fixed assets
Since 1999, goodwill arising on the purchase of shares
and the acquisition of business activities has been
capitalised. Assets, provisions and liabilities at the
date of acquisition are stated at fair value. The
goodwill created is carried at the amount of the costs
incurred, less accumulated amortisation and, if
applicable, impairment. Amortisation is based on the
expected useful life (20 years). An impairment
analysis is carried out in the event of any indications
that could lead to possible impairment of the
capitalised goodwill.

With the exception of goodwill, intangible fixed
assets, such as fees for licences, concessions and
permits, but also prepayments, are capitalised as they
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arise. Amortisation is based on the expected useful
life (20 years). An impairment analysis is carried out
in the event of any indications that could lead to
possible readjustment of the valuation.

Tangible fixed assets
Buildings and land
Buildings and land are carried at current value.
Buildings and land that are held for strategic purposes
are carried at their replacement value. Buildings and
land held with the intention of being sold in the
foreseeable future and not replaced are carried at
estimated realisable value. EU grants received are
deducted from this value.

Replacement value and realisable value are are based
on appraisals carried out by external experts. The
appraisals are updated on the basis of insights
gained, specific index figures and market data for
each location. Value adjustments in the financial year
are taken to the revaluation reserve, net of deferred
tax liabilities, insofar as there are sufficient funds in
the reserve. Deferred tax liabilities are included in the
provision for deferred taxes, further annotated in
section 19 Provisions(see page 66). Results on the
sale of land an d buildings are taken to the result.

Depreciation for buildings is based on the expected
useful life of the building. Depreciation is not applied
to land.

Other tangible fixed assets
Other tangible fixed assets are carried at the cost of
acquisition or production, less accumulated
depreciation and, if applicable, impairment. The
depreciation is based on the expected useful life and
calculated using a fixed percentage of the acquisition
price, with due regard for any residual value. Assets
are depreciated from the date they are taken into use.
EU grants (CMO) received are deducted from this
value.

Financial fixed assets
Associates where significant influence is exercised on
commercial and financial policy are carried at net
asset value, but no lower than nil. This net asset
value is determined in accordance with the company's
accounting policies.

Associates whose net asset value is negative are
carried at a value of nil. Where the company has

either wholly or partially guaranteed debts payable
by the relevant associate, a provision has been
formed, which is primarily charged to receivables
from this associate and the remainder to the
provisions. The amount of the provision equals the
remaining share in the losses incurred by the
associate or of the expected payments to be made by
the company on behalf of these associates.

Amounts receivable from, and loans to associates and
other debtors are carried at amortised cost, which
equals their face value, net of any allowances
considered necessary.

Inventories
Inventory is carried at the lower of cost or market
value, less any provisions for obsolescence.

Inventories of reusable packaging are carried at the
refundable amount, unless held on consignment.

Receivables
Receivables are carried at amortised cost, less any
provisions for doubtful debts considered necessary.
These provisions are determined based on an
individual assessment of the receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at face value
and are at the company's free disposal.

Product funds
Product funds consist of levies raised on growers.
Product funds are carried at face value and may only
be used to defray the cost of commercial activities
such as promotions, product research and care
systems, after consultation with growers'
representatives.

Provisions
Pension provisions
Pension provisions are valued in accordance with
Dutch Guidelines for Annual Reporting, Guideline
271.3 'Employee Benefits - Pensions'.

The company and its subsidiaries have several
pension plans. No provision is formed for the
industry-wide pension fund of Stichting
Bedrijfspensioenfonds voor de Agrarische en
Voedselvoorzieningshandel, for Pensioenfonds
Vervoer or for the Defined Contribution Plan. The
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pension plan managed by Stichting
Bedrijfspensioenfonds voor de Agrarische en
Voedselvoorzieningshandel and Pensioenfonds
Vervoer is a defined contribution plan.

Pension plans in the Netherlands
Pension commitments arising from the Dutch pension
plans are valued according to the 'liability towards the
pension administrator' principle. This approach
recognises the contributions payable to the pension
administrator as an expense in the income statement
in the relevant period.

The administration agreement specifies circumstances
in which other liabilities may arise in addition to the
payment of the annual contributions payable to the
pension administrator. These additional liabilities,
including liabilities arising from recovery plans of the
pension administrator, will lead to charges for the
group and will be recognised on the balance sheet as
a provision.

In 2015 the method used to determine the pension
provision was changed. The pension provision
included in the balance sheet only covers the
unconditional liabilities regarding entitlements
accrued as at the balance sheet date arising from
expected future salary increases and payable by the
company.

The valuation of this liability is the best estimate of
the amounts needed to settle the liability on the
balance sheet date. If the effect of the time value of
money is material, the liability will be valued at its
present value. Discounting will be applied based on
interest rates applicable to premium corporate bonds.

Increases of and releases from the liabilities are
charged to the income statement.

Pension plans outside the Netherlands:
Pension plans in countries outside the Netherlands
that are comparable to the way in which the pension
system in the Netherlands is organised and operates
are treated in the same way as pension plans in the
Netherlands.

For pension plans outside the Netherlands that are
not comparable to the way the pension system in the
Netherlands is organised, liabilities arising under
these international pension plans are valued on the

basis of a generally accepted actuarial valuation
method in the Netherlands which is in line with the
‘commitment to the employee’ principle. This means
that the liability is valued based on the best estimate
of the amounts needed to settle the liabilities in
question on the balance sheet date.

Other long-term employee compensation
Other long-term employee compensation comprises
emoluments that form part of the remuneration
package, such as work anniversary bonuses,
temporary leave, etc. with a long-term character.
Entitlement to these is earned. The liability is valued
based on the best estimate of the amounts needed to
settle the liabilities in question on the balance sheet
date.

Provision for deferred tax liabilities
A provision is formed for future tax liabilities resulting
from timing differences between the valuation of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting and for tax
purposes.

This provision is reduced by the tax amounts that may
be carried forward for future set-off, insofar as it is
likely that future taxable profits will be available for
set-off.

The provision is carried at its non-discounted value on
the basis of the prevailing tax rate, with the exception
of land held for strategic purposes, to which a rate of
20% applies.

Restructuring provision
This provision relates to costs associated with
restructuring of activities and is formed where the
group has a legal or constructive obligation. A
provision is also recognised for reorganisations for
which there is a formalised plan on the balance sheet
date, but for which only after the balance sheet date
either the justified expectation was raised that the
reorganisation was to be carried out or
implementation of the restructuring plan has begun.

Other provisions
Except where stated otherwise, any other provisions
are valued at the nominal value of the expenditure
expected to be necessary to settle the related
liabilities.
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Long-term liabilities
These are carried at their non-discounted value.

10 Accounting policies for
determining the result

Net turnover
Net revenue represents the income from the supply
of goods and services to third parties, net of VAT and
discounts. Income arising from the sale of goods is
recognised at the time that all key rights to economic
benefits and all key risks have transferred to the
buyer. The cost price of these goods is attributed to
the same period.

Net revenue also includes the commission on product
sales, with a fixed percentage counted as income for
The Greenery. Operating subsidies (CMO) are
recognised in the income statement in the year in
which the subsidised expenditure was incurred.

Costs
Costs are determined in accordance with the above
accounting policies and allocated to the reporting year
to which they relate.

Tax
Corporate income tax is computed on the net profit or
loss at the prevailing tax rate for the year, taking
account of permanent differences for computing the
result for financial reporting and tax purposes.
Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent
that they are likely to be realised.

Share in result of associates
The results of associates in which the company exerts
significant significant influence over commercial and
financial policy are recognised in proportion to its
share in the result of these associates. The result is
determined on the basis of the prevailing accounting
principles at the company for determining the net
result.

11 Basis of preparation for the
consolidated cash flow statement

The cash flow statement has been prepared using the
indirect method. In general, the cash flow statement
reflects the movements in the consolidated balance
sheet, with separate presentation under cash flow
from investing activities in the case of the acquisition
or sale of consolidated associates, of the acquired net

asset value, less cash and cash equivalents, and
increased by any goodwill paid. Exchange rate
movements are eliminated from balance sheet
movements, as they do not represent cash flows.
Partly for the above two reasons, the movements in
the cash flow statement cannot always be directly
derived from the movements in the related balance
sheet items.

Cash flows in foreign currency are translated at an
average exchange rate. Currency exchange differences
on cash are recognised separately in the cash flow
statement. Profits tax and interest are stated under
cash flow from operating activities. Dividends
received are stated under cash flow from investing
activities.
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Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

(amounts in thousands of euros)

12 Intangible fixed assets

in thousands of euros 2015 20141

Goodwill 8,625 10,324
Other intangible fixed assets 9,627 13,302
Net book value as at December 31 18,252 23,626
   

1 The comparative figures have been adjusted for the reclassification of capitalised software.

Goodwill

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Net book value as at January 1 10,324 16,597
Depreciation (1,766) (2,048)
Impairments (3,438)
Divestment of subsidiaries (975)
Other movements 67 67
Currency exchange differences 121
Net book value as at December 31 8,625 10,324

Accumulated cost 34,722 34,722
Accumulated depreciation and impairments (26,097) (24,398)
Net book value as at December 31 8,625 10,324
   

The amount recognised under impairments in 2014 relates to North Bank Growers.

The amount recognised under divestment of associate in 2014 relates to the sale of the minority share in
Hessing B.V.

Other movements concern the release of EU grants received.
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Other intangible fixed assets

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Net book value as at January 1 13,302 12,728
Investments 689 2,366
Depreciation (1,792) (1,792)
impairments (2,572)
Net book value as at December 31 9,627 13,302

Accumulated cost 17,675 16,986
Accumulated depreciation and impairments (8,048) (3,684)
Net book value as at December 31 9,627 13,302
   

Mainly pear-growing rights and associated licensing rights are capitalised under other intangible fixed assets. In
January 2012, the Company acquired the shares of New Sensations B.V. and Goeie Peer B.V., a company that
holds the breeder's rights to the Rode Doyenne Van Doorn pear variety, as well as the licensing rights for the
Uta pear variety. The acquisition included a contingent consideration arrangement (an income-dependent earn-
out), hence the inclusion of a contingent debt within other provisions. In addition, the amount recognised under
'Investments' concerns the costs of the acquisition, development and implementation of a new administrative
system at Hoogsteder Groenten en Fruit BV. The impairment in 2015 concerns the pear-growing companies.

13 Tangible fixed assets

in thousands of euros
Buildings and

land

Machinery
and

equipment Vehicles
Other tangible

fixed assets
Tangible fixed

assets in progress Total

Net book value as at January
1, 2015 186,834 15,717 3,326 1,621 1,145 208,643
Investments 550 1,462 1,614 695 985 5,306
Disposals (49,836) (808) (256) (3) (50,903)
Depreciation (5,594) (4,040) (1,305) (765) (11,704)
Impairments (2,275) (34) (1) (2,310)
Revaluations (3,700) (3,700)
Transfers 410 (27) 312 (695) 0
Other movements (75) 1,257 403 107 1,692
Net book value as at
December 31, 2015 126,314 13,527 3,782 1,966 1,435 147,024
Depreciation rate 0-3 10 20 20-33
       

In 2015 the company finalised a number of transactions concerning the sale of land and buildings in Barendrecht
and Breda. The removal of these items from the books is recognised under Disposals.

In addition, a revaluation of EUR 3.7 million was recognised based on the assessment of the current value of real
estate.
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The additions of EUR 5.3 million (2014: EUR 5.5 million) are stated net of EU grants of EUR 1.2 million (2014: EUR
2.3 million). Of the investments, EUR 1.0 million was effected through a financial lease commitment recognised
under Loans. The interest included in the lease instalments is taken to the result over the course of the lease.

The book value as at 31 December 2015 includes EUR 9.6 million relating to investments at the cultivation
companies of members of the Cooperative, EUR 0.8 million of which was invested in 2015. The release of EU
grants received is recognised as other movements.

Cost, accumulated revaluation, accumulated depreciation and net book values as at 31 December 2015 were as
follows:

in thousands of euros
Buildings and

land

Machinery
and

equipment Vehicles
Other tangible

fixed assets
Tangible fixed

assets in progress Total

Cost 126,999 41,127 17,710 19,450 1,435 206,721
Accumulated revaluation 73,830 73,830
Accumulated depreciation (74,515) (27,600) (13,928) (17,484) (133,527)
Net book value as at
December 31, 2015 126,314 13,527 3,782 1,966 1,435 147,024
       

The accumulated unrealised revaluation amounted to EUR 73,830 as at 31 December 2015 (2014: EUR 110,318). A
provision for deferred tax on this amount has been formed. The development in the accumulated unrealised
revaluation is as follows:

in thousands of euros 2015 20141

Net book value as at January 1 110,318 107,863
Depreciation (555) (704)
Disposals (32,233) 2,769
Revaluation (3,700) 390
Net book value as at December 31 73,830 110,318
   

1 The comparative figures have been adjusted for the reclassification of capitalised software.

Realisation of the revaluation is recognised in shareholders' equity.
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14 Financial fixed assets

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Associates 37,544 31,423
Other long-term receivables 4,117 1,899
Amounts receivable from shareholders 7,501 5,870
Total 49,162 39,192
   

Associates

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Net asset value at January 1 31,423 43,651
Acquisitions 5
Divestments (17,222)
Share in result 11,026 10,489
Dividends received (4,910) (5,500)
Other movements 5
Net asset value at December 31 37,544 31,423
   

Other long-term receivables

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Net book value as at January 1 1,899 1,892
Deconsolidation (23)
Loans granted 2,743 50
Release of provision 85
Loan redemption (523) (20)
Loan write-off (87)
Net book value as at December 31 4,117 1,899
   

In connection with the sale of real estate in Bleiswijk, Houweling Klappolder B.V. was granted suspension of
payment on 22 April 2015 regarding a part of the purchase price, which was converted into a loan of EUR 2.5
million, subject to an interest rate of 3.5% and a term of 10 years and 2.5 months. In addition, Jarno Goesten
Packaging BV was granted a loan of EUR 243,000 to finance activities taken over in the mushroom segment. The
book value of these loans as at the balance sheet date amounted to EUR 2.35 million and EUR 180,000
respectively.

In 2013, a loan was granted to the minority holding Inova Fruit B.V., and a provision of EUR 1.0 million was made
for the possibility of impairment. In 2015 a repayment of this subordinated loan was effected in the amount of
EUR 282,00. A review of the provision resulted in a release of EUR 85,000.
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The amount recognised under 'Loan redemption' comprises regular repayments, largely in connection with the
loans mentioned above. The loan granted to Stichting Merkartikel Bio+ in 2010 (balance at year-end 2014: EUR
20,000) was fully repaid in 2015.

Finally, the figures include a write-down of EUR 87,000 in connection with the bankruptcy of a French pear-
growing business.

Receivable from shareholder
The Cooperative holds the entire share capital of the company. The Cooperative has issued depositary receipts
for B shares to its members, of which over 81% were repurchased between 2008 and 2012.

To finance the repurchase of depositary receipts, a company belonging to the group supplied a loan of EUR 7.5
million (2013: EUR 5.9 million) at an interest rate of 8%. The loan was issued for an indefinite period from
1 January 2009.

15 Inventories

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Packaging 6,173 7,126
Goods for sale 5,722 6,350
Total 11,895 13,476
   

The inventories item includes a provision for obsolescence of EUR 1.2 million (2014: EUR 1.4 million).

16 Receivables

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Trade receivables 66,595 85,602
Amounts receivable from shareholders 4,819 4,740
Other receivables 4,592 5,617
Prepayments and accrued income 7,072 4,103
Total 83,078 100,062
   

The trade receivables item includes a provision for impairment of EUR 2.5 million (2014: EUR 5.9 million).

The interest on amounts receivable from shareholders is set at 0%.

64 Notes to the consolidated balance sheet



17 Group equity
The development in group equity is as follows:

in thousands of euros
Shareholders'

equity
Non-controlling

interest Group equity

Book value as at January 1, 2015 80,546 (139) 80,407
Change in accounting policy1 8,227 8,227
Book value after change in accounting policy 88,773 (139) 88,634
Revaluation of property (4,081) (4,081)
Movement in UK pension provision 259 259
Result for the year 4,111 13 4,124
Currency exchange differences (2,102) (14) (2,116)
Comprehensive income for 2015 (1,813) (1) (1,814)
Book value as at December 31, 2015 86,960 (140) 86,820
    

1 The change in the accounting policy refers to pensions. For more information, refer to note 6 'Change in accounting policy'.

Non-controlling interest relates to the consolidated subsidiary Dalice Qingdao Trading Company Ltd., 30% of the
shares of which are held by a company outside the group.

Please see note 31, Shareholders' equity (see page 80)to the company balance sheet for a breakdown of
shareholders' equity.

18 Product funds

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Book value as at January 1 5,967 5,909
Withdrawals (1,686) (1,802)
Additions recognised in the result 1,486 1,822
Interest 30 38
Book value as at December 31 5,797 5,967
   

The product funds are short-term and subordinated.

The rate of interest is based on the one-month EURIBOR rate plus a mark-up of 0.5%.
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19 Provisions
The provisions are as follows:

in thousands of euros 2015 20141

Pension provision 8,928 8,943
Deferred tax liabilities 17,527 26,831
Other provisions 14,180 18,387
Book value as at December 31 40,635 54,161
   

1 The comparative figures have been adjusted for the change in accounting policy for pensions. For more information, refer to note 6

'Change in accounting policy'.

Of the total provisions as at 31 December 2015, approx. EUR 11 million (2014: EUR 15 million) will be settled
within one year and approx. EUR 23 million (2014: EUR 37 million) after five years.

The development in the provisions is as follows:

in thousands of euros
Pension

provision
Deferred tax

liabilities
Other

provisions Total

Book value as at January 1, 2015 21,562 23,676 18,387 63,625
Change in accounting policy1 (12,619) 3,155 (9,464)
Book value after change in accounting policy 8,943 26,831 18,387 54,161
Withdrawals (18) (5,811) (5,829)
Additions recognised in the result 475 7,021 7,496
Reversal recognised in the result (5,415) (5,415)
Other movements (472) (9,304) (2) (9,778)
Book value as at December 31, 2015 8,928 17,527 14,180 40,635
     

1 The change in the accounting policy refers to pensions. For more information, refer to note 6 'Change in accounting policy'.

Pension provision
The group contributes to a number of defined benefit plans in the Netherlands and the UK. The defined benefit
pension is based largely on average salary and partly on final salary.

The Dutch pension plans and the international pension plans (where they are comparable to how the Dutch
pension system is organised and operates) are stated according to the ‘liability towards the pension
administrator’ principle. Most of the other countries have defined contribution plans.

Regarding the UK pension fund, the calculations are based on actuarial assumptions with future liabilities
discounted at a rate of 3.8% and with due regard for an inflation rate of 3.3%. In addition, the calculations
incorporate an expected rate of return on assets of 3.8%, an expected future salary increase of 1.0%, the S2NXA
CMI mortality table for 2015 and an expected future increase in deferred pensions of 3.3%.

Given the present value of the assets in the fund versus the present value of the liability, the pension fund
currently show a net deficit of EUR 3.7 million, for which a provision has been formed in the balance sheet. A
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recovery plan provides for monthly contributions to the pension fund aimed at strengthening its position. The
pension costs in 2016 are estimated to amount to EUR 0.4 million.

In 2015 the company introduced a change in accounting policy to the effect that a provision is no longer created
to cover expected contingent indexations. The accrual of this provision was largely dependent on management
estimates on the level of future indexation.

Provision for deferred tax liabilities
The provision for deferred tax liabilities relates chiefly to the revaluation of property, plant and equipment and
the pension provision. The decrease in the company's deferred tax position relates in particular to the sale of
land and buildings and to the revaluation of real estate, as stated in the notes to property, plant and equipment.

Other provisions
The other provisions are as follows:

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Restructuring provision 4,266 5,050
Provision for legal claims 3,727 4,727
Provision for conditional earn-out obligation 1,386 3,360
Other provisions 4,801 5,250
Book value as at December 31 14,180 18,387
   

20 Long-term liabilities

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Mandatory members' loans 44,354 49,237
Financial lease 976
Other loans 6,189 7,112
Total 51,519 56,349
   

Mandatory and voluntary members' loans
Mandatory members’ loans are based on the liquidity levy, which is calculated in proportion to the value of the
goods supplied. At the end of the year, the levy is converted into a mandatory members' loan with a term of
eight years and one day, with a starting date of 31 December and an expiry date of 1 January. The net amount of
the long-term members' loans is EUR 44.4 million (2014: EUR 49.2 million). The interest on these members'
loans is added to the principal amount unless a request for payment of the interest is received by 31 March. The
rate of interest on the mandatory loans is set each year. In 2015, the rates on the various loans ranged from
2.10% to 5.65%.

There were also voluntary members' loans totalling EUR 7.1 million as at 31 December 2015 (2014: (2008: EUR 7.0
million) bearing interest rates from 2.10% to 3.50%. Voluntary members' loans that are due between 1 January
and 31 March are recognised as current liabilities.
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Mandatory members' loans totalling EUR 9.2 million expire on 01 January 2016. Interest on these loans was paid
at a rate of between 4.20% and 5.70% in 2015. Mandatory members' loans that mature within one year are
recognised as current liabilities, including the accrued interest. The portion of these members' loans due after
five years is EUR 18.2 million (2014: EUR 18.8 million). The interest accrued and payable on the mandatory and
voluntary members' loans is classified as subordinated capital as at 31 December of the financial year. The
members' loans are subordinated to the bank loans.

Finance leases
In 2015 the company entered into finance lease commitments with respect to transport vehicles. These
commitments are recognised under property, plant and equipment. The leases have a term of five years and are
subject to an interest rate of 3.08%.

Other loans
These are loans granted mostly by members of the Cooperative to finance capital expenditure by the company
on their behalf. In 2015 the interest on these loans amounted to 0.323% (2014: 0.555%), depending on the
effective date and term. The debt due and payable after five years is EUR 0.6 million (2014: EUR 2.9 million).

Information on financial instruments
At 31 December 2015 the Company had interest-rate derivatives outstanding for a principal amount of EUR 30
million. Of these interest-rate derivatives, EUR 15 million will expire on 1 October 2016 and EUR 15 million on
1 January 2017. The interest-rate derivatives relate to long-term financing and are used to hedge interest-rate
risks. Their fair value as at 31 December 2015 is EUR 569,000 negative. Cost price hedge accounting is used for
the interest-rate derivatives and no provision is therefore formed for the lower fair value.

Forward currency contracts have been concluded to hedge currency risks arising on debtor positions in foreign
currencies.

The total contract value of the outstanding forward currency and option contracts as at 31 December 2015
amounted to approximately EUR 4.8 million (2014: EUR 5.0 million).

The estimated fair value of the forward currency contracts at the balance sheet date is approximately
EUR 74,000 lower than the book value. All contracts mature within one year.
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21 Current liabilities

in thousands of euros 2015 20141

Credit institutions 485 54,742
Financial lease 119
Trade payables 60,842 55,867
Grower payables 9,517 11,343
Mandatory members' loans 9,240 8,539
Voluntary members' loans 7,095 7,010
Taxes and social security contributions 2,795 3,442
Pension contributions 2,796 652
Other liabilities 26,204 27,089
Accruals and deferred income 18,729 15,885
Total 137,822 184,569
   

1 The comparative figures have been adjusted for the change in accounting policy for pensions. For more information, refer to note 6

'Change in accounting policy'.

The amounts recognised under credit institutions concern the advance facilities for accounts receivable of EUR 75
million maximum. These facilities have a variable interest based on the one-month EURIBOR rate plus a 3.0%
mark-up.

Collateral
At year-end 2015, all assets were pledged as security for debts owed to credit institutions.

22 Off-balance sheet liabilities

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Guarantees and securities 4,726 8,322
Capital expenditure commitments 33 1,019
Lease and rental commitments 21,326 8,593
Other commitments 5,502 6,260
Total 31,587 24,194
   

Guarantees and securities consist primarily of guarantees for EU grants.

The amount recognised for capital expenditure commitments concerns ICT-related investments (2014: EUR 0.8
million and moveable property EUR 0.2 million).

Lease and rental obligations can be broken down as follows:
• Payable in 2016: EUR 7,187
• Payable in 2017 to 2020: EUR 14,139
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Of the amount of lease and rental obligations, EUR 15.3 million concerns real estate rentals (2014: EUR 3.0
million) and EUR 6.0 million concerns rolling stock (2014: EUR 5.6 million). The rise in rental obligations relates to
the lease-back of real estate sold in 2015.

The amount for other obligations primarily concerns ICT-related contractual obligations.

23 Related-party transactions
In 2015, the company entered into transactions with the associates Europool System B.V. and Inova Fruit B.V.
These transactions were conducted on arm's length terms.

In 2013, a subordinated finance facility was provided to Inova Fruit B.V., an associate, at a fair market interest
rate. In 2015, the company received interest on 2014 and EUR 0.3 million was repaid.

In accordance with RJ 330, the General Management and the members of the Supervisory Board of the company
qualify as related parties. Please see note 43 to the company financial statements for details on the
remuneration of these directors.
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Notes to the consolidated income statement

24 Net revenue

Geographic spread

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Geographic spread
Netherlands 674,649 687,516
Germany 162,961 141,454
United Kingdom 94,407 70,081
Rest of Europe 117,253 126,999
Rest of the world 57,716 60,081
Total 1,106,986 1,086,131
   

Breakdown by category

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Segmentation by category
Fruit and vegetables 1,030,505 1,003,764
Services and other income 76,481 82,367
Total 1,106,986 1,086,131
   

Provision of services and other income
This income includes income from logistics services, transport, rental and other operating income that includes
an amount of EUR 3.5 million (2014: EUR 5.2 million) in EU grants and a result on the sale of real estate of EUR
1.5 million.

25 Depreciation

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Intangible fixed assets (3,558) (3,840)
Tangible fixed assets (11,704) (15,517)
Total (15,262) (19,357)
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Depreciation on intangible fixed assets

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Goodwill (1,766) (2,048)
Other intangible fixed assets (1,792) (1,792)
Total (3,558) (3,840)
   

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Buildings and land (5,594) (7,668)
Machinery and equipment (4,040) (5,209)
Vehicles (1,305) (1,558)
Other tangible fixed assets (765) (1,082)
Total (11,704) (15,517)
   

26 Impairment of fixed assets

In 2015 impairments related to:

(in thousands of euros)
Intangible fixed

assets
Property, plant
and equipment Total

North Bank Growers 0 (2,310) (2,310)
Total 0 (2,310) (2,310)
    

In 2015 impairments related to:

in thousands of euros
Intangible fixed

assets
Tangible fixed

assets Total

North Bank Growers (3,438) (6,394) (9,832)
PTLA 0 (1,750) (1,750)
Total (3,438) (8,144) (11,582)
    

27 Other operating expenses

Fees for the activities of the external auditor
Fees for the activities of the external auditor and the audit firm charged against the result for the financial year
include an amount under other operating expenses of EUR 810,000 (2014: EUR 632,000). This amount is broken
down as follows:
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in thousands of euros Total 2015 Total 2014

Audit of the financial statements by Deloitte Accountants B.V. 442 375
Audit of the financial statements by other Deloitte networks 126 72
Total for audit of the financial statements 568 447

Other audit engagements by Deloitte Accountants B.V. 196 185
Other non-audit engagements by Deloitte Accountants B.V. 46 0

Total 810 632
   

28 Financial income and expenses
Financial income and expenses mainly relate to interest income and expenses. The balance of interest paid to
and interest received from related parties in 2015 is EUR 32,000 (2014: nil).

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Financial income 596 624
Financial expenses (8,530) (8,838)
Total (7,934) (8,214)
   

29 Tax
The tax payable is computed as follows:

in thousands of euros Gross profit

Corporate tax

in € in %

Result on ordinary activities before tax (4,194) (1,048) 25.0%
Permanent differences 1,358 340 25.0%

(2,836) (709)
Non-capitalised losses of foreign group companies 3,167
Adjustments to tax returns in previous years 66
Miscellaneous 184
Taxes on income as shown in the income statement 2,708
    

The permanent differences mostly concern non-deductible amortisation of goodwill.

The company and most of its wholly-owned subsidiaries in the Netherlands constitute a fiscal unity.

The balance of losses from previous years in consolidated companies for which tax relief is available amounted
to nil on the balance sheet date (2014: EUR 3.8 million).
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30 Employee numbers

number of FTEs employed at year-end 2015 2014

Board/MT/offices 359 435
Logistics services 832 830
Transportation and other 136 141
Total 1,327 1,406
   

The average number of FTEs with permanent employment contracts during 2015 was 1,326 (2014: 1,421).

The average number of temporary staff in FTEs was 602 (2014: 675).
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Company financial statements

Company balance sheet as at 31 December
(before profit appropriation)

in thousands of euros Note 2015 20141

Assets

Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets 32 9,199 10,663
Tangible fixed assets 33 9,418 9,082
Financial fixed assets 34 200,807 234,583

219,424 254,328
Current assets
Inventories 35 8,030 9,089
Receivables and accruals 36 94,847 125,642
Cash and cash equivalents 10,000 453

112,877 135,184

Total assets 332,301 389,512

Liabilities

Group equity 37
Share capital 61,262 61,262
Share premium reserve 834 834
Revaluation reserve 56,716 85,389
Other legal reserves 32,967 28,948
General reserve (68,930) (89,684)
Result for the financial year 4,111 2,024

86,960 88,773
Provisions and liabilities
Product funds 5,797 5,967
Provisions 38 34,452 51,817
Long-term liabilities 39 50,481 56,209
Current liabilities and accruals 40 154,611 186,746

245,341 300,739

Total liabilities 332,301 389,512
    

1 The comparative figures have been adjusted for the change in accounting policy for pensions. For more information, refer to note 6

'Change in accounting policy'.
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Company income statement

in thousands of euros 2015 20141

Net income from subsidiaries and associates after tax 19,750 14,070
Other net income after tax (15,639) (12,046)
Company net income 4,111 2,024
   

1 The comparative figures have been adjusted for the change in accounting policy for pensions. For more information, refer to note 6

'Change in accounting policy'.
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Notes to the company financial statements

31 General
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch
Civil Code.

The accounting policies applied in the company financial statements are the same as those applied in the
consolidated financial statements. Please see the notes to the consolidated financial statements for these
accounting policies.

Participating interests in group companies where significant influence is exercised on commercial and financial
policy are carried at net asset value, but no lower than nil. This net asset value is determined in accordance with
the company's accounting policies.

The income from associates represents the company's share in the profit or loss for the financial year of the
company concerned from the time it became part of the group.

The company income statement has been drawn up in accordance with the provisions of Section 402 of Book 2
of the Dutch Civil Code.

32 Intangible fixed assets

Goodwill

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Net book value as at January 1 3,933 5,365
Disposal of associate (979)
Adjustment of capitalised goodwill 67 72
Depreciation and impairments (443) (525)
Net book value as at December 31 3,557 3,933

Accumulated cost 8,200 8,200
Accumulated depreciation and impairments (4,643) (4,267)
Net book value as at December 31 3,557 3,933
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Other intangible fixed assets

in thousands of euros 2015 20141

Net book value as at January 1 4,364 5,748
Investments 296
Depreciation (1,384) (1,384)
Net book value as at December 31 3,276 4,364

Accumulated cost 9,581 9,285
Accumulated depreciation and impairments (3,939) (2,555)
Net book value as at December 31 5,642 6,730
   

1 The comparative figures have been adjusted for the reclassification of capitalised software.

33 Tangible fixed assets

in thousands of euros
Buildings and

land
Machinery and

equipment Vehicles

Other
tangible

fixed assets

Tangible fixed
assets in
progress Total

Net book value as at January 1, 2015 (266) 7,390 236 989 733 9,082
Investments 240 946 199 153 377 1,915
Disposals (669) (6) (675)
Transfers 352 (242) 270 (380) 0
Depreciation (264) (2,153) (508) (520) (3,445)
Other movements 649 1,407 408 77 2,541
Net book value as at December 31, 2015 711 6,679 329 969 730 9,418
       

Cost, accumulated revaluation, accumulated depreciation and net book values as at 31 December 2015 were as
follows:

in thousands of euros
Buildings and

land
Machinery and

equipment Vehicles

Other
tangible

fixed assets

Tangible fixed
assets in
progress Total

Cost -16,433 11,864 657 10,304 730 7,122
Accumulated revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 17,144 -5,185 -328 -9,335 2,296
Net book value as at December 31, 2015 711 6,679 329 969 730 9,418
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34 Financial fixed assets

in thousands of euros
Minority
interests

Receivables from
group companies Associates

Other
receivables Total

Net value at January 1, 2015 59,022 143,862 31,679 20 234,583
New loans 243 243
Redemption (44,266) (282) (83) (44,631)
Result of subsidiaries and associates 8,199 11,026 19,225
Dividends (4,910) (4,910)
Provisions 85 85
Other movements (3,788) (3,788)
Net value as at December 31, 2015 63,433 99,596 37,598 180 200,807
      

Participation in group companies
The amount stated under movements mainly concerns a CTA in connection with PTLA.

Receivables from associates
The amount recognised under redemptions relates mainly to the sale of real estate by Greenery Vastgoed B.V.

Non-controlling interests
Over the course of 2015, an amount of EUR 4.9 million in dividend was received from Houdstermaatschappij
Verpakkingsbedrijven B.V.

35 Inventories

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Packaging 5,299 6,488
Goods for sale 2,731 2,601
Total 8,030 9,089
   

The inventories item includes a provision for obsolescence of EUR 1.2 million (2014: EUR 1.3 million).

36 Receivables

in thousands of euros 2015 2014

Trade receivables 36,472 52,993
Amounts receivable from group companies 50,026 60,645
Amounts receivable from shareholders 4,820 4,739
Other receivables, prepayments and accrued income 3,529 7,265
Total 94,847 125,642
   

79Notes to the company financial statements



The trade receivables item includes a provision for impairment of EUR 0.3 million (2014: EUR 3.7 million).

The interest on receivables from group companies is based on one-month EURIBOR plus a mark-up. The interest
on amounts receivable from shareholders is set at 0%.

37 Equity capital

in thousands of euros
Share

capital

Share
premium

reserve
Revaluation

reserve
Other legal

reserves
General
reserve Result Total

Book value as at January 1, 2015 61,262 834 85,389 28,948 (97,079) 1,192 80,546
Change in accounting policy1 7,395 832 8,227
Book value after change in
accounting policy 61,262 834 85,389 28,948 (89,684) 2,024 88,773
Revaluation of property (4,081) 0 (4,081)
Movement in UK pension provision 259 259
Capital contribution with regard to
associate GreenMed 5 (5) 0
Revaluation realised with regard to
disposals and depreciation (24,592) 24,592 0
Movements in legal reserves for
associates (4,910) 4,910 0
Result appropriation of previous
financial year 2,024 (2,024) 0
Addition to the reserve of associates 11,026 (11,026) 0
Result for the year 4,111 4,111
Currency exchange differences (2,102) (2,102)
Book value as at December 31, 2015 61,262 834 56,716 32,967 (68,930) 4,111 86,960
        

1 The change in the accounting policy refers to pensions. For more information, refer to note 6 'Change in accounting policy'.

The revaluation reserve is for changes in the value of property, plant and equipment of Greenery Vastgoed B.V.
carried at present value. Realisation of the revaluation reserve is taken to shareholders' equity.

Paid-up and called-up capital
The share capital comprises 281,000 Class A shares and 259,000 Class B cumulative preference shares. Shares in
both classes have a nominal value of EUR 113.45 each.

Share premium
The share premium arose in 1996 upon the contribution in kind against the issuance of Class A shares.

Other statutory reserves
In addition to the reserve for associates, the other reserves required by law include the reserve for exchange
differences. The movements in that reserve were as follows:
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in thousands of euros
Reserve of
associates

Currency
translation

reserve
Other legal

reserves

Book value as at January 1, 2015 31,424 (2,476) 28,948
Movement of legal reserve for associates (4,910) (4,910)
Grants to the reserve of associates 11,026 11,026
Capital contribution with regard to associate GreenMed 5 5
Currency exchange differences (2,102) (2,102)
Book value as at December 31, 2015 37,545 (4,578) 32,967
    

38 Provisions
The provisions are as follows:

in thousands of euros 2015 20141

Pension provision 5,019 5,936
Deferred tax liabilities 18,279 27,357
Other provisions 11,154 18,524
Book value as at December 31 34,452 51,817
   

1 The comparative figures have been adjusted for the change in accounting policy for pensions. For more information, refer to note 6

'Change in accounting policy'.

Movements in pensions, deferred tax liabilities and other provisions were as follows:

in thousands of euros
Pension

provision
Deferred tax

liabilities
Other

provisions Total

Book value as at January 1, 2015 18,555 24,202 18,524 61,281
Change in accounting policy1 (12,619) 3,155 0 (9,464)
Book value after change in accounting policy 5,936 27,357 18,524 51,817
Withdrawals (18) (9,115) (9,133)
Additions recognised in the result 366 5,378 5,744
Reversal recognised in the result (3,631) (3,631)
Other movements (1,265) (9,078) (2) (10,345)
Book value as at December 31, 2015 5,019 18,279 11,154 34,452
     

1 The change in the accounting policy refers to pensions. For more information, refer to note 6 'Change in accounting policy'.

For further explanation, see the notes to the consolidated balance sheet.

39 Long-term liabilities
To finance the repurchase of depositary receipts, a company belonging to the group of The Greenery B.V.
supplied a loan of EUR 7.5 million (2014: EUR 5.9 million) at an interest rate of 8%. The loan was issued for an
indefinite period from 1 January 2009.
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40 Current liabilities

in thousands of euros 2015 20141

Credit institutions 0 72,089
Trade payables 29,046 25,698
Grower payables 9,517 11,343
Group companies 72,028 31,525
Mandatory members' loans 9,240 8,539
Voluntary members' loans 7,095 7,010
Taxes and social security contributions 1,285 3,858
Pension contributions 2,722 517
Other liabilities 18,038 18,052
Accruals and deferred income 5,640 8,115
Total 154,611 186,746
   

1 The comparative figures have been adjusted for the change in accounting policy for pensions. For more information, refer to note 6

'Change in accounting policy'.

41 Off-balance sheet liabilities
On behalf of the majority of the Dutch group companies included in the consolidation, the equity holder issued
guarantees as referred to in Book 2, Section 403 of the Dutch Civil Code. Pursuant to those guarantees, the
equity holder is jointly and severally liable for debts arising from legal acts performed by those group
companies.

42 Tax group
The equity holder constitutes a tax group for corporate income tax and turnover tax purposes with the vast
majority of its Dutch subsidiaries and, as such, is jointly and severally liable for the tax liability of the tax group
as a whole. The other companies that form part of the tax group are charged corporate income tax as though
they were independent taxpayers.

43 Remuneration of the members of the Board and Supervisory Board
The total amount charged to the company for the remuneration of current and former Board members, including
pensions, in 2015 was EUR 1,958,000 (2014: EUR 1,306,000) and for Supervisory Board members: EUR 197,000
(2014: EUR 220,000).

Barendrecht, 29 March 2016

General Management Supervisory Board
S.A. Martina (CEO) B.J. Feijtel (Chairman)
Philip Limvers (CFO) G.W. Pronk (Vice-Chairman)

E. Drok
A.W.G.M. Hop
T.W. van Noord
R.J.G.W. van der Wouw
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List of subsidiaries and associates

As at 31 December 2015 the most significant subsidiaries and associates included the companies listed below. A
full list of associates has been filed at the Chamber of Commerce in Rotterdam:

Subsidiaries Registered office Share in capital (%)

Hollander Barendrecht B.V. Barendrecht 100
Disselkoen Airfreight B.V. De Lier 100
Hagé International B.V. Barendrecht 100
Hoogsteder Groenten en Fruit B.V. Utrecht 100
Greenery UK Ltd. Huntingdon (UK) 100
Greenery España S.A. Carlet Valencia € 100
Internationaal Transportbedrijf Dijco B.V. Delft 100
J.H. Wagenaar B.V. Zwaagdijk 100
Greenery Italia Srl. Verona (I) 100
Greenery Vastgoed B.V. Den Haag 100
Mulder Onions B.V. Bleiswijk 100
Greenery Produce B.V. Maasland 100
Greenery Poland Sp. Z.o.o. Warschau (PL) 100
PTLA Holding Participacões LTDA Beberibe (BR) 100

Associates
Houdstermaatschappij Verpakkingen B.V. Zoetermeer 78.571

Inova Fruit B.V. Geldermalsen 49.50
   

1 The Articles of Association rule out any controlling interest.

83



Other information

Articles of Association provisions
governing profit appropriation
Under Article 38 of the Articles of Association, the
profit is appropriated as follows:

Article 38 Profit
1. With respect to each class of shares, a dividend

reserve is held for the benefit of the holders of
those shares, which reserve shall be identified by
the same letter as the associated shares.

2. From the profit generated in the most recent full
financial year, the dividend reserve maintained
on behalf of the holders of Class B cumulative
preference shares shall, if possible, be increased
by the percentage stated below of the nominal
amount paid up on the Class B cumulative
preference shares. If, in any year, the profit does
not allow the addition referred to in the previous
sentence to be effected, or only in part, the
deficit shall be added to the dividend reserve
maintained on behalf of the holders of Class B
cumulative preference shares and taken off the
profit of subsequent years.

3. From the profit that remains after application of
the first paragraph, if and to the extent permitted
by such remaining profit, each of the dividend
reserves shall be increased by an amount that
equals the percentage stated below of the
relevant dividend reserve as at the end of the
financial year. If the amount of a dividend reserve
has varied over the course of a financial year, the
addition from the profit shall be calculated over
the average reserve for that year. To determine
the amount of the addition from the profit, the
dividend reserve is increased by the amount by
which it is to be supplemented pursuant to
paragraph eight, second sentence. The
percentage referred to in the second and third
paragraphs above equals the interest rate
percentage applicable at the end of the financial
year concerned to a government loan with a term
to be determine by the general meeting, plus
one per cent.

4. Any profit that remains following the addition
form the profit in accordance with the previous
paragraph shall be at the disposal of the meeting

of Class A shareholders, which shall be free to
add all or part of the remaining profit to the
distributable reserves.

5. Any profit not reserved in accordance with the
fourth paragraph by the meeting of Class A
shareholders shall be added to the dividend
reserve which is maintained on behalf of the
Class A shareholders.

6. The General Meeting shall only be able to cancel
all or part of a dividend reserve on behalf of the
holders of a particular class of shares upon a
proposal to that effect by the holders of that class
of shares, subject to the provisions of paragraph
nine. In that case, the amount cancelled shall be
distributed to the holders of shares of that
particular class in proportion to the paid-up
nominal amount of their shares of that class.

7. The General Meeting shall be free at all times to
make additions to the dividend reserves of a
particular class at the expense of the
distributable reserves. The addition shall be
effected in such a way that each of the dividend
reserves shall benefit from it in proportion to the
nominal amounts paid up on the shares of that
class, without prejudice to the provisions of
paragraph eight, second sentence.

8. The General Meeting shall cancel all or part of a
dividend reserve for the purpose of offsetting
incurred losses. If a dividend reserve has been
used to offset a loss, no dividend shall be
distributed other than through cancellation of a
dividend reserve in the manner referred to in
paragraph six, nor shall any reservation or
addition to another dividend reserve be effected,
as long as the amount withdrawn in order to
offset the loss has not been added to that
dividend reserve. Exceptions to this rule are
possible if unanimously endorsed by the General
Meeting. If the amount used to offset a loss was
withdrawn from more than one dividend reserve,
an addition to the relevant reserves shall be
made as referred to in the second sentence of
paragraph seven in proportion to the
withdrawals.
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9. Additions or distributions from the profit shall not
exceed the amount of the distributable part of
the equity.

10. Additions or distributions from the profit shall not
be effected until after adoption of the financial
statements that demonstrate their justification.

11. The General Meeting may decide to provide an
interim addition or distribution from the profit,
with due regard for the provisions of paragraph
nine.

12. Subject to the provisions, mutatis mutandis, of
paragraph nine, the General Meeting may decide
to effect distributions from a non-statutory
reserve.

13. The shareholder's distribution claim shall lapse
after five years.

Proposed profit appropriation
It is proposed to the General Meeting to add the profit
of EUR 4,111,000 made in 2015 to the equity. This
proposal has not yet been incorporated into the
financial statements.

Events after the balance sheet date
On 15 January 2016 The Greenery signed an
agreement with APS Growers Ltd and P3P Partners
LLP concerning the sale of assets and business
operations of North Bank Growers.

As an extension of the strategic cooperation between
The Greenery and Warehouses De Pauw NV (WDP)
that began in April 2015, the two parties signed a
Letter of Intent in January 2016 on the sale of real
estate in Barendrecht, which is to be further
developed by WDP and leased to The Greenery.

 

Independent auditor’s report
For the independent auditor’s report we refer to page 88 in the Dutch version of the annual report 2015.
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68 Footer

MORE INFORMATION

We would be pleased to receive any

questions, comments or suggestions

at the following address:

corporatecommunicatie@thegreenery.com

The Greenery B.V.

Spoorwegemplacement 1,

Barendrecht, The Netherlands

P.O. Box 79, 2990 AB

Barendrecht, The Netherlands

Telephone: +31 (0)180 65 59 11

E-mail: info@thegreenery.com

www.thegreenery.com

This Annual Report is a translation of the Dutch Annual Report, which is the official version.  
Please note that in case of discrepancies, the Dutch version will prevail.
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